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The St Andrews Preservation Trust was founded in 1937  
and incorporated in 1938. 

 
Its object is to secure the preservation of the amenities and historic character of              
St Andrews and its neighbourhood. 
 
Membership of the Trust is open on the following terms and conditions: 

Life Membership - A single payment of not less than £400. 
Joint Life Membership - For Husband and Wife, a single payment of not less than £800. 
Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £25. 
Joint/Family Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £40. 
Corporate Membership – An annual payment of  £50  or  more. This  class  of          
membership is available to businesses, institutions, and organisations  wishing  to support 
the work of the Trust. 
Student Membership – An annual membership of £5 for students. 
Subscriptions are due with Application and annually on 1st January. 
Liability of members is limited to one Annual Subscription. 

 
Enquiries and Subscriptions should be addressed to The St Andrews Preservation Trust 
Limited, 4 Queen’s Gardens, St Andrews, Fife KY16 9TA  
e-mail: trust@standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk;       Tel No.  01334 477152   
Membership Application and Donation forms, Gift Aid Declaration and  Banker’s Order forms  
are  available on request or on www.standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk. 
 
In addition to renewing their own membership annually, members are asked to consider other 
ways of helping the Trust in its work for St Andrews, in particular, by introducing new    
members.  This would be most beneficial, not only financially, but by bringing more people 
into closer contact with the  Trust’s  work.  As  an  encouragement to the  younger  generation  
to participate in the Trust’s efforts to maintain the quality of life for their future, membership 
can, for example, be taken out on behalf of children and grandchildren. 
 

PUBLICATIONS 
 

   St Andrews: Preserving the Image                 £6.50 
   Saving St Andrews 1937 – 2003: A Short History of the Trust   £3.00 
   A Handful of Ghosts                         £2.50 
   A Journey Through the Lade Braes                 £1.00 
   St Andrews Shop Fronts 1820 - 1940                £3.00 
   12 North Street                           £4.00 
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and /or affecting listed buildings or their setting.  Objections were raised in respect of extensions, 
HMOs, bin store, change of use, tree conservation, etc, in the conservation areas. The Trust was 
also influential in objecting to a significant housing development at the former New Park Playing 
Fields, occupying an area designated as public open space.  Apart from further reducing the 
amount of open space (which is at a premium in St Andrews), this development would have 
negatively impacted views from the Lade Braes – a very important environmental amenity and 
part of the Hepburn Gardens Conservation Area.   The Trust also objected unsuccessfully to the 
extension of the Kinkell Caravan site in view of its very sensitive position and potential impact 
on the town’s landscape setting.  A proposal for a stylish contemporary building for the         
University’s Ocean Research Institute at the Gatty Marine Laboratory site on the East Sands was 
opposed, mainly on the grounds that it did not follow planning policy guidelines as set out in the 
East Sands Urban Design Framework – especially in respect of safe access and its proximity to 
leisure areas.   The Trust noted with satisfaction that in March 2016 the Court of Session finally 
ruled as unlawful, Fife Council’s application to build a replacement Madras College at Pipeland, 
an area formerly designated as Green Belt.  The Trust had objected on several occasions, noting 
the large negative impacts, including loss of part of the Green Belt, spoiling the landscape     
setting, increased traffic, pollution and risk of accidents.  The Trust also monitors the condition 
of heritage buildings and sent a letter to Historic Environment Scotland drawing its attention to 
the poor state of the Abbey precinct wall.  The planning group was pleased to continue its      
association with students from Dundee University’s department of urban planning who           
provided useful voluntary assistance. The Trust reciprocated by attending a seminar at Dundee 
and presenting typical planning issues and challenges faced in a heritage area. 
 
The museum mounts a wide range of exhibitions and continues to acquire artefacts, largely    
focusing on St Andrews and district social history.  These are only possible through the         
remarkable efforts of 50 volunteers and Trustees.   The popular 2016 Easter exhibition featured 
old St Andrews buildings, lost through demolition. The summer exhibition on sport in                
St Andrews also attracted much local interest.  A permanent exhibition on blacksmithing in St 
Andrews was benefitted from grant support.  In addition, the museum hosted a number of  social 
events including plays, receptions and fairs for fund-raising.  The Trust has also provided a grant 
for equipment to assist in the creation of an oral archive, featuring interviews with elderly                
St Andreans.   
 
The museum kitchen and toilet were refurbished in 2016 thanks to a very generous donation from 
the late Miss Gillian Falconer, formerly Honorary Vice President.  We must thank Gillian for her 
unwavering dedication to the activities of the Trust and her financial assistance over many years.  
The Trust also received a grant towards the creation of a sensory garden.  This was the subject of 
a design competition at Elmwood College.  The final design, which includes sound, fragrance, 
touch and  visual areas, is now being developed.  
 
The Trust’s environment committee is tasked with overseeing the maintenance of Boase Wood, a 
beautiful deciduous wood at the west end of the Lade Braes, which was donated to the Trust.  
Despite some difficulties with maintenance in 2016, the wood remains a very precious            
environmental asset. The committee also monitors the state of the conservation areas including 
the Lade Braes and highlights areas of town where upgrading is needed – including bin         
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
(Limited by Guarantee) 

 

Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016 

The trustees are pleased to present their report together with the financial statements of the 
charity for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 
The financial statements comply with the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, 
the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the Companies Act 2006, the 
Memorandum and Articles of Association, and Accounting and Reporting by Charities:       
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102). 
 

Charitable objectives and activities 
The Memorandum of Association gives the charity wide ranging powers to meet its principal 
object: ‘To preserve for the benefit of the public the amenities and historic character of the City 
and Royal Burgh of St Andrews and its neighbourhood’. Such powers include the acquisition, 
maintenance and restoration of buildings and land. 
 
The charity also seeks to advance and promote education by exhibits and activities within the St 
Andrews Preservation Trust Museum. 
 
The charity’s efforts to ‘preserve … the amenities and historic character of ...St Andrews and its 
neighbourhood’ are focused through the work of its Planning and Environment Committees. All 
applications for planning permission within the town’s conservation area and many outwith this 
area are scrutinised by the Planning Committee which frequently makes formal submissions to 
the local authority. The Environment Committee, often in association with others, seeks to pro-
tect the landscape setting of the town. It is also involved in the care of the woodland which is 
owned by the charity. 
 
Through its Museum the charity seeks to inform and educate locals and visitors, young and old, 
about the history and culture of St Andrews through permanent displays and a series of          
exhibitions during the year. 
 
Other activities relate to informing members of the charity of its activities and fundraising. 
 

Achievements and performance 
The Trust’s overall mission is addressed through a strategic plan.  Its principle objectives relate 
to preserving and enhancing the built and natural environment in and around St Andrews and to 
promoting education and learning on St Andrew’s history through exhibitions and research    
carried out at the Trust’s museum.  The strategic plan is implemented by means of an action plan 
which is regularly reviewed by a policy and resources committee and which is overseen by the 
Board of Trustees.   A number of committees, comprising Trustees and volunteers initiate and 
manage the actions set out in the plan.  To support their effort, the Trust employs an               
administrator and museum curator. Both posts became vacant in 2016 and were quickly filled. 
The new recruits have settled well in their challenging roles.  
 
In 2016 the planning committee scrutinized around 337 applications of widely differing scale and 
type.  Its responses focused mainly on those with significant impact on the conservation areas 
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management.  The group also manages the commissioning and maintenance of commemorative 
plaques marking residences of distinguished former residents. 
 
Membership is holding up well after an increase in subscriptions. The membership committee 
have been active in considering new ways to grow and retain membership.  Fundraising is always 
challenging and various events and products have been tried with mixed success.  The Hidden 
Gardens event once again proved effective, drawing wide support from locals and visitors alike.  
 
Future plans 
Looking forward, the main mission and strategic priorities of the Trust remain as valid as ever.  
The Trust will review and update its Strategic Plan and Action Plan, as well as policies           
supporting its activities.  
 
Pressure for development continues apace and the planning group faces stern challenges in    
respect of assessing the impacts of major developments at Craigtoun North, St Andrews West, 
and the East Sands.  The Trust looks forward to establishing constructive dialogue with          
concerned stakeholders with a view to mitigating impacts.   
The Trust will seek to grow its membership and foster the development of the museum and    
garden with increased attention to education and learning, including for young persons.  A main 
objective is to secure the continuation of the museum’s accreditation.  The south border of the 
museum garden will be re-modelled thanks to another generous donation from Miss Falconer.  It 
is also intended to upgrade the museum store at 4 Queen’s Gardens.  A programme of             
exhibitions, social events and a publication to mark the 80th anniversary of the founding of the 
Trust in 1937 is envisaged.  It is intended to launch competitions for the Pride of Place Award 
and the Murray Medal for a publishable work on the history of St Andrews.  
 
Financial position and review of the year 
There has been an overall increase in the financial position of the charity in 2016 of £138,125 
(2015 increase £59,737). The unrestricted General Fund reflecting ordinary activities showed an 
increase of £52,415 (2015 increase £92,230). The unrestricted Revaluation Reserve showed an 
increase of £79,228 (2015 decrease £46,424). The restricted funds reflect an increase of £6,482 
(2015 increase £13,931) and the Endowment Fund was unchanged (2015 unchanged). The    
overall result is a net increase in total funds of £138,125 (2015 net increase £59,737) leaving 
total funds carried forward of £1,297,194.  

The most significant income this year is from the unrestricted legacies, and this has moved us 
from an operating loss of £7,009 to a net operating surplus of £59,140. In addition sales of     
investments realised a net surplus of £3,688. The unrealised gain on our portfolio is £74,366 
which is in line with the increase of the all share indexes.  

The total dividends and interest received on our investment portfolio is in line with the           
predictions from our investment advisors and we continued to allocate part of the income to the 
restricted funds.   Income from annual subscriptions, including Gift Aid, has increased due to the 
increase in the subscription rates. An appeal was made to life members, many of whom had taken 
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out membership many years ago at a significantly lower cost than the present rate, and we are 
very grateful to those life members who responded. Indeed some life members have signed 
standing orders for future years. Our main fundraising events were very successful this year but 
sales of the trust publications are still proving difficult. 

We found it necessary to carry out significant maintenance on our properties, and in particular on 
our investment property at Burgher Kirk. These works should keep them in a satisfactory       
condition but as they age, work will be constantly required. Salaries to our two employees make 
up one third of the total costs and these plus the other normal operating costs, apart from      
maintenance of our properties, are in line with last year. The trust made one contribution to assist 
with a significant planning appeal affecting the town. Our planning committee are to be         
congratulated in not having to call on outside professional help in the consideration of the many 
planning applications reviewed in the year. 

The Trustees recognise the restricted funds presently held and there has been expenditure on 
almost all of the funds. A very generous donation was received to enable work to start in 2017 on 
a major improvement to the south border in the museum garden. Funds were also received to 
assist with the development of a new sensory garden in the drying green area which we          
purchased in 2014. Work was completed within the funds given for the upgrade to the kitchen 
and toilet at the museum. 

 
Reserves policy 
The trust holds reserves in the form of investment property and stock market investments. The 
income from both of these reserves forms over half of our operating income and are essential to 
help the charity to properly manage its resources. The reserves provide the charity with          
adequate financial stability and means for it to meet its charitable objectives for the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Structure, governance and management 
The charity is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital. The charitable company 
was incorporated on 5 February 1938. The liability of each member in the event of a winding up 
is limited to £1. 
 
Any member of the charity is eligible to become a trustee. Nominations are sought in advance of 
the Annual General Meeting at which elections are held and the results announced. Trustees may 
also be co-opted to fill casual vacancies or to secure needed skills. The term of office is three 
years, renewable once only. Any trustee who completes six years of service may not seek           
re-election until one year has passed. 
 
No external person or body has any right to appoint a trustee. 
 
No trustee receives any kind of remuneration but re-imbursement of reasonable expenses       
incurred on charity business is allowed when previously authorised by the Chairman or a       
Vice-Chairman and supported by receipts. 
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The trustees are accountable for all aspects of the charity’s activities. The trustees delegate    
considerable authority to a number of committees but retain firm financial control. The charity 
employs two staff – an Office Administrator and a Museum Curator. The Office Administrator 
has particularly strong links with the Chairman as does the Museum Curator with the Convenor 
of the Museum Committee. 
 
The trustees assess the various risks associated with their finances and all other aspects of their 
activities both at trustee and committee levels and regularly review the controls and procedures 
they have in place to meet the identified risks at least annually. 
 
This work has identified financial sustainability as the major financial risk of the charity.       
Financial risk is managed by regular reviews of available liquid funds to settle liabilities as they 
fall due, active management of debtors and creditors and regular liaison with the charity      
stockbrokers. 
 
Attention has also focussed on non-financial risks arising from fire and health and safety of staff 
and visitors to the charity offices and museum. These risks are addressed by having robust     
policies and procedures in place and regular training of staff and volunteers. 
 

Reference and administrative details 
Charity registration number:          SC011782 
Company registration number:         SC020194 
Registered office:                4 Queen’s Gardens, St. Andrews, KY16 9TA 
Museum:                    12 North Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PW 
 
Secretary & Legal Advisor: Mr D N Kinnear LLB NP, Thorntons Law LLP, 

Kinburn Castle, St Andrews, KY16 9DR 
Honorary Treasurer:               Mr I S Lumsdaine 
Stockbrokers:                  Speirs & Jeffrey Limited, George House, 50    
                         George Square, Glasgow, G2 1EH 
Independent Examiner:             Mrs J Paul BA CA CTA, Chestney House, 149   
                         Market Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PF 
Directors and Trustees 
The directors of the charitable company (the charity) are its trustees for the purpose of charity 
law. The trustees and officers serving during the year and since the year end were as follows: 
 
Chairman:       Dr W K D Borthwick (elected trustee) 
 
Vice-Chairmen:    Dr D A Barrie (elected trustee) 
            Miss A J M Morris (elected trustee) 
            Dr P J Murray (to Oct 2016) 
 
Elected Trustees:   Miss I R T Bennett            Mrs A Long (to July 2016) 
            Mr R de C Chapman (to May 2016)   Mr J F Matthews (to May 2016)  
            Mrs M E Denyer             Mr D K Seeley 
            Mr A W Johnson (to May 2016)     Mr D H Telfer 
 

7 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
(Limited by Guarantee) 

 

Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016 

9

The following office holders are not regarded as trustees in terms of charity law: 
 
Honorary President:       Dr R R Steedman 
Honorary Vice-Presidents:   Dr J M Frew  
                 The late Miss G L C Falconer (died 27 October 2016) 
                 Mrs E J Baxter 
                 Mr R S Murray  
 
Investment powers and policy  
The Memorandum of Association provides the trustees with power to invest moneys, not imme-
diately required in securities or otherwise, in such manner as may from time to time be deter-
mined. 
 
Income from the charity’s investments is vital to its financial well-being. Investment policy is 
conservative, seeking the maximum total return consistent with rather low-risk exposure. Within 
this broad policy, the charity’s stockbrokers are asked to provide the highest income possible 
whilst preserving the value of the capital in real terms. 
 
Trustees’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements 
The trustees (who are the directors of the company for the purposes of company law) are        
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice             
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards). 
 
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming  
resources and application of resources, including the income and expenditure of the charitable 
company for that period.  
 
In preparing those financial statements the trustees are required to: 
 
 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the charitable company will continue in operation. 
 
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with           
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 
(as amended).  The trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable   
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 
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The trustees are accountable for all aspects of the charity’s activities. The trustees delegate    
considerable authority to a number of committees but retain firm financial control. The charity 
employs two staff – an Office Administrator and a Museum Curator. The Office Administrator 
has particularly strong links with the Chairman as does the Museum Curator with the Convenor 
of the Museum Committee. 
 
The trustees assess the various risks associated with their finances and all other aspects of their 
activities both at trustee and committee levels and regularly review the controls and procedures 
they have in place to meet the identified risks at least annually. 
 
This work has identified financial sustainability as the major financial risk of the charity.       
Financial risk is managed by regular reviews of available liquid funds to settle liabilities as they 
fall due, active management of debtors and creditors and regular liaison with the charity      
stockbrokers. 
 
Attention has also focussed on non-financial risks arising from fire and health and safety of staff 
and visitors to the charity offices and museum. These risks are addressed by having robust     
policies and procedures in place and regular training of staff and volunteers. 
 

Reference and administrative details 
Charity registration number:          SC011782 
Company registration number:         SC020194 
Registered office:                4 Queen’s Gardens, St. Andrews, KY16 9TA 
Museum:                    12 North Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PW 
 
Secretary & Legal Advisor: Mr D N Kinnear LLB NP, Thorntons Law LLP, 

Kinburn Castle, St Andrews, KY16 9DR 
Honorary Treasurer:               Mr I S Lumsdaine 
Stockbrokers:                  Speirs & Jeffrey Limited, George House, 50    
                         George Square, Glasgow, G2 1EH 
Independent Examiner:             Mrs J Paul BA CA CTA, Chestney House, 149   
                         Market Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PF 
Directors and Trustees 
The directors of the charitable company (the charity) are its trustees for the purpose of charity 
law. The trustees and officers serving during the year and since the year end were as follows: 
 
Chairman:       Dr W K D Borthwick (elected trustee) 
 
Vice-Chairmen:    Dr D A Barrie (elected trustee) 
            Miss A J M Morris (elected trustee) 
            Dr P J Murray (to Oct 2016) 
 
Elected Trustees:   Miss I R T Bennett            Mrs A Long (to July 2016) 
            Mr R de C Chapman (to May 2016)   Mr J F Matthews (to May 2016)  
            Mrs M E Denyer             Mr D K Seeley 
            Mr A W Johnson (to May 2016)     Mr D H Telfer 
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Small company exemptions 
The trustees have prepared this report in accordance with the special provisions relating to small 
companies within Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Approved by the trustees on 28th March 2017 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr W K D Borthwick         Mr D P Haselhurst  
Chairman              Finance Convenor 
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I report on the accounts of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2016 which are set out on 
pages 12 to 20. 
 
Respective Responsibilities of Trustees and Examiner 
The charity’s trustees are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with the 
terms of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  The charity trustees consider that the audit             
requirement of Regulation 10(1) (a) to (c) of the Accounts Regulations does not apply.  It is my 
responsibility to examine the accounts as required under section 44(1) (c) of the Act and to state 
whether particular matters have come to my attention. 
 
This report is made to the trustees, as a body, in accordance with the terms of my engagement.  My 
work has been undertaken so that I might state to the trustees those matters I am required to state to 
them in an independent examiner’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the trustees 
for my work or for this report. 
 
Basis of Independent Examiner’s Statement 
My examination is carried out in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  An examination includes a review of the accounting 
records kept by the charity and a comparison of the accounts presented with those records.  It also 
includes consideration of any unusual items or disclosures in the accounts, and seeks explanations 
from the trustees concerning any such matters.  The procedures undertaken do not provide all the 
evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently I do not express an audit opinion on 
the view given by the accounts. 
 
Independent Examiner’s Statement 
In the course of my examination no matter has come to my attention:- 

 
1.   which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the  requirements: 

 to keep accounting records in accordance with Section 44(1) (a) of the 2005 Act 
and Regulation 4 of the 2006 Accounts Regulations, and  

 to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records and comply with    
Regulation 8 of the 2006 Accounts Regulations have not been met, or  

 
 2.   to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper  understanding 
   of the accounts to be reached. 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
(Limited by Guarantee) 

 

Independent Examiner’s Report to the Trustees of The St Andrews Preservation Trust Limited 
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Joanne Paul CA  Chestney House 
Partner 149 Market Street 
Henderson Black & Co St Andrews St Andrews 
Chartered Accountants Fife 
 KY16 9PF 
29 March 2016  
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Total Prior 
General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Funds Year

Notes Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2016 2015
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income and endowments from:
   Grants, donations and legacies 4 69,528     -          18,063     -          87,591        93,917        
Charitable activities:
   Ordinary Members' Subscriptions 7,779       -          -          -          7,779          6,660          
   Life Members' Subscriptions 225          -          -          -          225             930             
   Life Members' Donations 3,865       3,865          -             
Other trading activities 5 18,701     -          -          -          18,701        18,091        
Investment Income:
   Dividends and Interest 31,235     -          1,955       -          33,190        32,521        
   Property Rents 6,540       -          -          -          6,540          6,180          
Total Income 137,873   -          20,018     -          157,891      158,299      

Expenditure on:
Raising funds 6 10,870     -          -          -          10,870        6,871          
Charitable Activities 7 67,863     -          19,087     -          86,950        78,878        
Total Expenditure 78,733     -          19,087     -          97,820        85,749        

Net gains/(losses) on investments 10 3,688       68,815     5,551       -          78,054        (12,813)

Net income/(expenditure) 62,828     68,815     6,482       -          138,125      59,737        

Transfers between funds (10,413) 10,413     -          -          -             -             

Net movement in funds 52,415     79,228     6,482       -          138,125      59,737        

Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward 792,861   277,086   79,122     10,000     1,159,069   1,099,332   

Total funds carried forward 845,276   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,297,194   1,159,069   

Represented by: General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Total Total
Analysis of charitable funds Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2016 2015

£ £ £ £ £ £
Fixed assets 749,723   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,201,641   1,058,634   
Current assets 103,303   -          -          103,303      110,660      
Current liabilities (7,750) -          -          -          (7,750) (10,225)

845,276   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,297,194   1,159,069   

The notes on pages 10 to 15 form an integral part of these accounts.

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses in the year.
All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Financial Activities (including Income and Expenditure Account)
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Unrestricted
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Total Prior
General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Funds Year

Notes Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2016 2015
£ £ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 181,973   -          33,894     -          215,867      220,219      
Investment property (at closing market value) 9 6,710       193,290   -          -          200,000      200,000      
Investments (at closing market value) 10 561,040   163,024   51,710     10,000     785,774      638,415      

749,723   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,201,641   1,058,634   

Current assets
Stock of Publications & Stationery 2,737       -          -          -          2,737          3,075          
Debtors and Prepayments 11 2,097       -          -          -          2,097          1,515          
Cash in Bank and on Hand 98,469     -          -          98,469        106,070      

103,303   -          -          -          103,303      110,660      

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Creditors 3,577       -          -          -          3,577          3,467          
Accruals 4,173       -          -          -          4,173          6,758          

7,750       -          -          -          7,750          10,225        

Net current assets 95,553     -          -          -          95,553        100,435      
Total net assets 845,276   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,297,194   1,159,069   

The funds of the charity:
Unrestricted income funds
General Fund 845,276   -          -          -          845,276      792,861      
Revaluation Reserve -          356,314   -          -          356,314      277,086      

1,201,590   1,069,947   
Restricted income funds:
Restricted Funds -          -          71,305     -          71,305        70,374        
Revaluation Reserve -          -          14,299     -          14,299        8,748          

13 85,604        79,122        

Endowment fund 14 -          -          -          10,000     10,000        10,000        

Total charity funds 845,276   356,314   85,604     10,000     1,297,194   1,159,069   

Trustees' responsibilities:
-

-

Approved by the trustees on 28 March 2017 and signed on their behalf by:-

Mr W K D Borthwick (Chairman) Mr D P Haselhurst (Finance Convenor)

Company Registration Number: SC020194

The notes on pages 10 to 15 form an integral part of these accounts.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016 the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the Companies Act
2006. No member of the company has deposited a notice, pursuant to section 476, requiring an audit of these financial statements under the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in question in accordance with
section 476;
The trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect to accounting records and the
preparation of financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to small companies subject to the small companies
regime.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2016

Unrestricted
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Approved by the trustees on 28 March 2017 and signed on their behalf by:-

Mr W K D Borthwick (Chairman) Mr D P Haselhurst (Finance Convenor)

Company Registration Number: SC020194

The notes on pages 10 to 15 form an integral part of these accounts.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016 the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the Companies Act
2006. No member of the company has deposited a notice, pursuant to section 476, requiring an audit of these financial statements under the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in question in accordance with
section 476;
The trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect to accounting records and the
preparation of financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to small companies subject to the small companies
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2016
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1 Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of Preparing the Financial Statements

1.2 Fund accounting

1.3 Income recognition

1.4 Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT

1.5 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
(i) Heritable Property

(ii) Alterations to Buildings - straight line method over 7 or 50 years
(iii) Computer Equipment - straight line method at 25%
(iv) Fittings and Other Equipment - reducing balance method at 15%
(v) Museum Fittings - reducing balance method at 5%

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 and the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

for the year ended 31 December 2016

Expenditure is recognised as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to that
expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of 
the financial statements are as follows:

The charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

The Charities SORP requires that provision be made for depreciation of fixed assets having a finite useful life. The
trustees are of the opinion that the properties owned by the charity have an indefinite life and their aggregate fair value
is considerably in excess of cost. Any depreciation charge would therefore be immaterial. The charity has a policy
and practice of regular maintenance and repair such that the heritable properties are kept in a condition to retain their
value.

Funds held by the charity are either unrestricted, restricted or endowment in purpose. Unrestricted funds are funds
which can be used in accordance with the charitable objects at the discretion of the trustees. Restricted funds are funds
that can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. Restrictions arise when
specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted purposes. Endowment funds are funds which
have been given on the condition that the original capital sum is not reduced, but the income therefrom is used for the
purpose defined in accordance with the objects of the charity.

Legacy gifts are recognised on a case by case basis, following Grant of Probate or Confirmation, when the
administrator or executor for the estate has communicated in writing both the amount and settlement date.

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the charity;
this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank. Dividends are recognised once the
dividend has been declared and notification has been received of the dividend due. This is normally upon notification
by our investment advisor.

All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income will be received
and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

Donations are recognised when the charity has been notified in writing of both the amount and settlement date.  

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for 
which the expenditure was incurred.
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Total Prior
Funds Year
2016 2015

£ £
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (see below) 21,974     40,944   

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends 33,190     32,521   
Property rents 6,540       6,180     
Purchase of tangible fixed assets -          (8,701)
Purchase of investments (111,787) (48,235)
Proceeds from sale of investments 42,482     67,032   
Net cash provided by investing activities (29,575) 48,797   

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year (7,601) 89,741   

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 106,070   16,329   

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 98,469     106,070 

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities

Net movement in funds 138,125   59,737   
Add back depreciation charge 3,846       4,369     
Add loss on disposal of assets 506          -        
Deduct investment income shown in investing activities (39,730) (38,701)
Deduct gains/add back losses on investments (78,054) 12,813   
Decrease in stocks 338          1,226     
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (582) 818        
Increase/(decrease) in creditors (2,475) 682        
Net cash used in operating activities 21,974     40,944   

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2016

The cash and cash equivalents totals brought forward and carried forward comprise cash at bank and in hand.
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The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 and the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

for the year ended 31 December 2016

Expenditure is recognised as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to that
expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of 
the financial statements are as follows:

The charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

The Charities SORP requires that provision be made for depreciation of fixed assets having a finite useful life. The
trustees are of the opinion that the properties owned by the charity have an indefinite life and their aggregate fair value
is considerably in excess of cost. Any depreciation charge would therefore be immaterial. The charity has a policy
and practice of regular maintenance and repair such that the heritable properties are kept in a condition to retain their
value.

Funds held by the charity are either unrestricted, restricted or endowment in purpose. Unrestricted funds are funds
which can be used in accordance with the charitable objects at the discretion of the trustees. Restricted funds are funds
that can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. Restrictions arise when
specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted purposes. Endowment funds are funds which
have been given on the condition that the original capital sum is not reduced, but the income therefrom is used for the
purpose defined in accordance with the objects of the charity.

Legacy gifts are recognised on a case by case basis, following Grant of Probate or Confirmation, when the
administrator or executor for the estate has communicated in writing both the amount and settlement date.

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the charity;
this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank. Dividends are recognised once the
dividend has been declared and notification has been received of the dividend due. This is normally upon notification
by our investment advisor.

All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income will be received
and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

Donations are recognised when the charity has been notified in writing of both the amount and settlement date.  

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for 
which the expenditure was incurred.
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Total Prior
Funds Year
2016 2015

£ £
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (see below) 21,974     40,944   

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends 33,190     32,521   
Property rents 6,540       6,180     
Purchase of tangible fixed assets -          (8,701)
Purchase of investments (111,787) (48,235)
Proceeds from sale of investments 42,482     67,032   
Net cash provided by investing activities (29,575) 48,797   

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year (7,601) 89,741   

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 106,070   16,329   

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 98,469     106,070 

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities

Net movement in funds 138,125   59,737   
Add back depreciation charge 3,846       4,369     
Add loss on disposal of assets 506          -        
Deduct investment income shown in investing activities (39,730) (38,701)
Deduct gains/add back losses on investments (78,054) 12,813   
Decrease in stocks 338          1,226     
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (582) 818        
Increase/(decrease) in creditors (2,475) 682        
Net cash used in operating activities 21,974     40,944   

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2016

The cash and cash equivalents totals brought forward and carried forward comprise cash at bank and in hand.
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7 Expenditure on charitable activities 2016 2015
Unrestricted General Fund £ £
Curatorial Costs (including salary) 19,495     20,882     
Secretarial Salary and Fees 14,066     13,863     
Cost of Goods for Re-sale 484          621          
Costs of Productions and Publications 3,144       2,894       
Museum Heat and Light 486          3,674       
Office Heat and Light 1,291       1,040       
Insurance and Rates (including Store at 4 Queens Gardens) 3,154       2,563       
Telephone, Postage and Stationery 3,280       3,289       
Advertising and Printing of Annual Report 1,682       2,050       
Exhibition Costs 2,738       2,035       
Expenses of Meetings 441          653          
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,651       1,589       
Subscriptions, Donations and Grants 1,067       447          
Repairs and Maintenance 6,370       6,099       
Planning Advisory Fees 2,000       42            
Independent Examiner's Fee 3,060       2,760       
Depreciation 2,948       3,451       
Loss on disposal of assets 506          -          

67,863     67,952     
Restricted Funds
Museum Items Purchased (Museum Purchase Fund) 50            1,035       
Plaques and Associated Expenses (Gordon Christie Legacy)                -          3,078       
Insurance (Boase Wood Appeal) 203          195          
Repairs and Maintenance (Boase Wood Appeal) -          810          
Museum Information and Storage System (Dr J Falconer Fund) 237          287          
Garden Upkeep and Maintenance (Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund) 284          1,920       
Kitchen and Toilet Refurbishment (Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund) 12,483     600          
Garden Upkeep and Maintenance (Miss G. Falconer Fund) 1,249       1,410       
Depreciation  (Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund) 215          215          
History Prize (Murray Income Fund) 733          200          
Depreciation (Research Room Fund) 633          644          
Interior Fittings for Research Room (Miss L Walker Fund) -          532          
Sensory Garden 3,000       -          

19,087     10,926     
86,950     78,878     

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Within the foregoing expenses of charitable activities the trustees regard the secretarial salary and fees as 
Support costs.

 11

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1.6 Fixed asset investments

1.7 Realised and unrealised gains and losses

2 Control 
Control of the charity lies in the hands of the members who elect the trustees.

3 Taxation

4 Income from grants, donations and legacies 2016 2015
£ £

Grants and Donations 21,442     19,723     
Legacies 66,149     74,194     

87,591     93,917     

5 Other trading activities 2016 2015
£ £

Events and Functions 10,628     10,229     
Museum Entry Donations 3,111       2,702       
Museum Income - Sales 3,466       4,106       
Office Sales 1,496       1,054       

18,701     18,091     

6 Expenditure on raising funds 2016 2015
£ £

Let Property Expenses 7,002       1,706       
Depreciation: Let Property Fittings & Equipment 50            59            

7,052       1,765       
Expenses of Events and Functions 2,446       3,929       
Investment Manager Charges 1,372       1,177       

10,870     6,871       

In 2016 of the income from grants, donations and legacies £18,063 was attributable to restricted income funds
(2015 £15,867) with the balance of £69,528 (2015 £78,050) adding to unrestricted funds.

The charity is exempt from tax on income and gains falling within section 505 of the Taxes Act 1988 or section
252 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that these are applied to its charitable objects.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The valuation and income from investments is apportioned between unrestricted and restricted funds based upon a 
quarterly review of the restricted fund balances as a proportion of total funds.

An annual transfer is made between the General Fund and the Unrestricted Revaluation Reserve to reflect the
difference between the historic cost and opening carrying value of investments realised in the year. 

Investment property is included at fair value at the year end as detailed at Note 9 to the financial statements. 

Investments, other than properties, are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their
transaction value and subsquently measured at their fair value at the balance sheet date using the closing mid-
market price. The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluations and
disposals throughout the year.

All gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities as they arise. Realised gains and losses on
investments are calculated as the difference between the sales proceeds and the opening carrying value or the
purchase value if acquired subsequent to the first day of the financial year. Unrealised gains and losses are
calculated as the difference between the fair value at the year end and the carrying value. Realised and unrealised
investment gains and losses are combined in the Statement of Financial Activities.

16
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The valuation and income from investments is apportioned between unrestricted and restricted funds based upon a 
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calculated as the difference between the fair value at the year end and the carrying value. Realised and unrealised
investment gains and losses are combined in the Statement of Financial Activities.
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10 Fixed asset investments

Movement in fixed asset listed investments 2016 2015
£ £

Market value brought forward at 1 January 2016 638,415  670,025   
Additions to investments at cost 111,787  48,235     
Disposals at carrying value (38,794) (67,032)
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation 74,366    (12,813)
Market value as at 31 December 2016 785,774  638,415   

Net cash invested in investments in the year was £69,305 (2015 - net cash released £18,797).

Investments at fair value comprised: 2016 2015
£ £

Bond funds 137,643  137,131   
Equity funds 204,731  125,584   
Equities 443,400  375,700   

785,774  638,415   

The historical cost of investments at 31 December 2016 was £608,451 (2015 -  £545,871)

11 Debtors 2016 2015
£ £

Prepayments 1,492      845          
Other debtors 605         670          

2,097      1,515       

12 Employees, trustees and their remuneration
12.1 Employees

The employees can be categorised as one on direct charitable activities and one on supporting charitable activities.
No employee earned at a rate of £60,000 pro-rata or more (2015 - none).

12.2 Trustees
No remuneration was paid to trustees during the year.
Only minor reimbursements of direct outlays were made to trustees on production of receipts.
Donations to the charity during the year, from trustees, were £350 (2015 - £370). 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The average weekly number of employees during the year on a head count was two (2015 - two).
Staff costs of the above amounted to £33,483 (2015 - £34,001) (including employers' national insurance of £495 
(2015 - £197).

All investments are carried at their fair value. Investment in equities and fixed interest securities are all traded in
quoted public markets, primarily the London Stock Exchange. Holdings in common investment funds and unit trusts
are at mid-market price. The basis of fair value for quoted investments is equivalent to the market value, using the
mid-market price. Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date of trade cost (that is transaction value).

The significance of financial instruments to the ongoing financial sustainability of the charity is considered in the
financial review and investment policy and performance sections of the Trustees' Annual Report.
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8 Tangible fixed assets

Heritable Properties
4 Queens 
Gardens

Museum / 12 
North Street

Kenly Green 
Doocot

St Andrews St Andrews Boarhills Total
£ £ £ £

Cost:
As at 1 January 2016 78,353         127,394        13,868         219,615        
Additions/(Disposals) -               -               -               -               
As at 31 December 2016 78,353         127,394        13,868         219,615        

Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2016 10,480         4,567           680              15,727         
Charge for year 467              1,180           -               1,647           
As at 31 December 2016 10,947         5,747           680              17,374         

Net book values:
As at 31 December 2016 67,406         121,647        13,188         202,241        

As at 31 December 2015 67,873 122,827 13,188 203,888        

Furniture and Fittings

Let Property 
Fittings / 

Equipment
Office 

Equipment
Museum 

Equipment
Museum 
Fittings Total

£ £ £ £ £
Cost:
As at 1 January 2016 2,373           25,023         10,541         8,836           46,773         
Additions/(Disposals) -               (6,004) (1,198) -               (7,202)
As at 31 December 2016 2,373           19,019         9,343           8,836           39,571         

Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2016 2,039           17,536         7,946           2,921           30,442         
Charge for year 50                1,465           388              296              2,199           
On disposals -               (5,518) (1,178) -               (6,696)
As at 31 December 2016 2,089           13,483         7,156           3,217           25,945         

Net book values:
As at 31 December 2016 284              5,536           2,187           5,619           13,626         

As at 31 December 2015 334              7,487           2,595           5,915           16,331         

Total net book values
As at 31 December 2016 215,867        

As at 31 December 2015 220,219        

9 Investment property
At Valuation: £
At 1 January and 31 December 2016 200,000        

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The property at 136 South Street, St Andrews was valued by the Trustees at the year end at £200,000 (2015 - £200,000).  An 
independent expert valuation has not been carried out.  The historical cost of the property is £6,710.
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The property at 136 South Street, St Andrews was valued by the Trustees at the year end at £200,000 (2015 - £200,000).  An 
independent expert valuation has not been carried out.  The historical cost of the property is £6,710.
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COMMITTEES FOR YEAR 2016/2017 
 

ENVIRONMENT 
Mrs M E Denyer, Convener 

Mr D H Telfer, Vice Convener 
Mr D K Seeley, Dr C D Watkinson, Dr W K D Borthwick,  

Co-opted members: Mr I M Christie (Keeper of the Wood and Doocots), 
and Miss G L C Falconer 

Adviser: Mr S A Kidd 
 

FUNDRAISING 
Miss I R T Bennett, Convener (to Dec 2016) 

Mr D P Haselhurst (from Jan 2017) 
 Dr D A Barrie, Mr D H Telfer, Mrs M E Denyer,  

Co-opted members:  Mrs E J Baxter, Mr J D Beaton, Mrs K Ekanger 
 

MEMBERSHIP, PUBLICATIONS, PUBLICITY & PROGRAMME 
Dr D A Barrie (Membership, Publications & Publicity) Joint Convener 

Miss I R T Bennett (Programme), Joint Convener 
 Mrs M E Denyer, Mrs C Tynte-Irvine, Miss P J Claydon, Mr D H Telfer, Mr P Haselhurst 

Co-opted members: Mr J D Beaton, Mr H I Greenwell  
 

MUSEUM 
Miss A J M Morris, Convener 

Dr P J Murray Vice Convener (to October 2016) 
Mr D K Seeley 

Co-opted members: Mrs L Barrie, Mrs K Ekanger, Mr A W Johnson,  
Miss G L C Falconer, Miss P M Harvey and Mr A H Pardoe 

Miss A Birrell (as from September 2016) 
Curatorial Adviser:  Mrs E J Wells 

Curator: Miss S Bannerman (to July 2016) 
Curator: Miss N Moss (from September 2016) 

 
PLANNING  

Mr A G Bremner, Convener 
Mr P Donaldson Vice Convener 

 Mr D K Seeley, Mrs C Tynte-Irvine, Dr C D Watkinson,  
Advisor: Mr D Middleton, Mr J Peacock  

Co-operation with University of Dundee: Dumyo Moyo (Lecturer)   
 

POLICY & RESOURCE 
Dr W K D Borthwick, Convener 

Dr D A Barrie, Miss I R T Bennett, Mrs M E Denyer, Miss A J M Morris, 
Mr I S Lumsdaine, Mr D K Seeley, Mrs A G Bremner 
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13 Restricted funds
At 1 January Incoming Resources At 31 December

2016 Resources Expended Revaluation 2016
£ £ £ £ £

Museum Purchase Fund 699          27            (50) -          676          
Gordon Christie Legacy Fund 13,473     554          -          -          14,027     
Boase Wood Fund 11,264     455          (203) -          11,516     
Dr J Falconer Fund 1,147       46            (237) -          956          
Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund 2,332       95            (284) -          2,143       
Miss G Falconer Fund 1,318       611          (1,249) -          680          
Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund 12,427     56            (12,483) -          -          
Pride of Place Fund 596          -          -          -          596          
Murray Revenue Fund 502          416          (733) -          185          
Falconer South Border Fund -          11,368     -          -          11,368     
Sensory Garden Fund -          6,390       (3,000) -          3,390       
Restricted Revaluation Reserve 8,748       -          -          5,551       14,299     

52,506     20,018     (18,239) 5,551       59,836     
Funds where expenditure has been capitalised
Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund 9,916       -          (215) -          9,701       
Research Room Fund 16,700     -          (633) -          16,067     

79,122     20,018     (19,087) 5,551       85,604     

Restricted Funds

14 Endowment fund

15 Contingent assets and liabilities

16 Capital commitments
At 31 December 2016, capital expenditure commitments were as follows: 2016 2015

£ £
Contracted but not provided for in the accounts -          8,151       

There were no contingent liabilities at the year end.

The Dr J Falconer Fund is to assist with the cost of the new information and storage system to be installed at the museum.
The Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund is funds provided for the D'Arcy Thompson Garden at the museum.
The Miss G Falconer Fund is to assist with revenue expenditure at the Trust garden and museum.

The Pride of Place Fund is to assist with the Pride of Place awards run by the Trust.

This permanent endowment fund was established by an original donation to be maintained as capital with the income being
applied to encourage and support the academic study of and, more particularly, original research into the historic heritage of the
Royal Burgh of St Andrews.

The Murray Revenue Fund arises from the permanent endowment whose purpose is described in note 14 below.

During 2016 a payment to account of a residuary legacy was received. At 31 December 2016 there was no indication of the
final amount which might be received and by what date.

The Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund is to assist with the refurbishment of the museum kitchen and toilet.

The Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund is to assist with funding of the Falconry building and costs of £10,709 have been
capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line annually.
The Research Room Fund represents grants and donations received to assist with the building of the new research room. Costs
of £25,723 have been capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line and 5% reducing balance basis
annually.

The Sensory Garden Fund is to assist with the development of the sensory garden in the Trust garden and museum.

The Falconer South Border Fund is to fund the costs of restoration of the garden border and the balance for other works in the
museum garden excluding the sensory garden. 

The Boase Wood Fund relates to monies raised and donated to meet the need to renew fencing, remove a number of potentially
dangerous trees and to establish and implement a plan for future maintenance of Boase Wood.

The Museum Purchase Fund is restricted by a requirement of the Museum and Galleries Commission's Registration Scheme
whereby any monies received from the sale of a museum item must be placed in a fund and used only for the purchases of
further museum items.
The Gordon Christie Legacy Fund is to be used in the provision and erection of plaques on buildings in St Andrews associated
with well known personalities or events so that the inhabitants of St Andrews may be reminded of their outstanding heritage.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)
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Mr D H Telfer, Vice Convener 
Mr D K Seeley, Dr C D Watkinson, Dr W K D Borthwick,  

Co-opted members: Mr I M Christie (Keeper of the Wood and Doocots), 
and Miss G L C Falconer 

Adviser: Mr S A Kidd 
 

FUNDRAISING 
Miss I R T Bennett, Convener (to Dec 2016) 

Mr D P Haselhurst (from Jan 2017) 
 Dr D A Barrie, Mr D H Telfer, Mrs M E Denyer,  

Co-opted members:  Mrs E J Baxter, Mr J D Beaton, Mrs K Ekanger 
 

MEMBERSHIP, PUBLICATIONS, PUBLICITY & PROGRAMME 
Dr D A Barrie (Membership, Publications & Publicity) Joint Convener 

Miss I R T Bennett (Programme), Joint Convener 
 Mrs M E Denyer, Mrs C Tynte-Irvine, Miss P J Claydon, Mr D H Telfer, Mr P Haselhurst 

Co-opted members: Mr J D Beaton, Mr H I Greenwell  
 

MUSEUM 
Miss A J M Morris, Convener 

Dr P J Murray Vice Convener (to October 2016) 
Mr D K Seeley 

Co-opted members: Mrs L Barrie, Mrs K Ekanger, Mr A W Johnson,  
Miss G L C Falconer, Miss P M Harvey and Mr A H Pardoe 

Miss A Birrell (as from September 2016) 
Curatorial Adviser:  Mrs E J Wells 

Curator: Miss S Bannerman (to July 2016) 
Curator: Miss N Moss (from September 2016) 

 
PLANNING  

Mr A G Bremner, Convener 
Mr P Donaldson Vice Convener 

 Mr D K Seeley, Mrs C Tynte-Irvine, Dr C D Watkinson,  
Advisor: Mr D Middleton, Mr J Peacock  

Co-operation with University of Dundee: Dumyo Moyo (Lecturer)   
 

POLICY & RESOURCE 
Dr W K D Borthwick, Convener 

Dr D A Barrie, Miss I R T Bennett, Mrs M E Denyer, Miss A J M Morris, 
Mr I S Lumsdaine, Mr D K Seeley, Mrs A G Bremner 
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13 Restricted funds
At 1 January Incoming Resources At 31 December

2016 Resources Expended Revaluation 2016
£ £ £ £ £

Museum Purchase Fund 699          27            (50) -          676          
Gordon Christie Legacy Fund 13,473     554          -          -          14,027     
Boase Wood Fund 11,264     455          (203) -          11,516     
Dr J Falconer Fund 1,147       46            (237) -          956          
Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund 2,332       95            (284) -          2,143       
Miss G Falconer Fund 1,318       611          (1,249) -          680          
Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund 12,427     56            (12,483) -          -          
Pride of Place Fund 596          -          -          -          596          
Murray Revenue Fund 502          416          (733) -          185          
Falconer South Border Fund -          11,368     -          -          11,368     
Sensory Garden Fund -          6,390       (3,000) -          3,390       
Restricted Revaluation Reserve 8,748       -          -          5,551       14,299     

52,506     20,018     (18,239) 5,551       59,836     
Funds where expenditure has been capitalised
Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund 9,916       -          (215) -          9,701       
Research Room Fund 16,700     -          (633) -          16,067     

79,122     20,018     (19,087) 5,551       85,604     

Restricted Funds

14 Endowment fund

15 Contingent assets and liabilities

16 Capital commitments
At 31 December 2016, capital expenditure commitments were as follows: 2016 2015

£ £
Contracted but not provided for in the accounts -          8,151       

There were no contingent liabilities at the year end.

The Dr J Falconer Fund is to assist with the cost of the new information and storage system to be installed at the museum.
The Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund is funds provided for the D'Arcy Thompson Garden at the museum.
The Miss G Falconer Fund is to assist with revenue expenditure at the Trust garden and museum.

The Pride of Place Fund is to assist with the Pride of Place awards run by the Trust.

This permanent endowment fund was established by an original donation to be maintained as capital with the income being
applied to encourage and support the academic study of and, more particularly, original research into the historic heritage of the
Royal Burgh of St Andrews.

The Murray Revenue Fund arises from the permanent endowment whose purpose is described in note 14 below.

During 2016 a payment to account of a residuary legacy was received. At 31 December 2016 there was no indication of the
final amount which might be received and by what date.

The Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund is to assist with the refurbishment of the museum kitchen and toilet.

The Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund is to assist with funding of the Falconry building and costs of £10,709 have been
capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line annually.
The Research Room Fund represents grants and donations received to assist with the building of the new research room. Costs
of £25,723 have been capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line and 5% reducing balance basis
annually.

The Sensory Garden Fund is to assist with the development of the sensory garden in the Trust garden and museum.

The Falconer South Border Fund is to fund the costs of restoration of the garden border and the balance for other works in the
museum garden excluding the sensory garden. 

The Boase Wood Fund relates to monies raised and donated to meet the need to renew fencing, remove a number of potentially
dangerous trees and to establish and implement a plan for future maintenance of Boase Wood.

The Museum Purchase Fund is restricted by a requirement of the Museum and Galleries Commission's Registration Scheme
whereby any monies received from the sale of a museum item must be placed in a fund and used only for the purchases of
further museum items.
The Gordon Christie Legacy Fund is to be used in the provision and erection of plaques on buildings in St Andrews associated
with well known personalities or events so that the inhabitants of St Andrews may be reminded of their outstanding heritage.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
 
It is impossible to do justice to the efforts of the staff, volunteers and Trustees in a short   
report!  Last year chairman John Matthews paid fulsome tribute to their dedication, expertise 
and support for the Trust’s unchanging mission: to preserve the historic character and    
amenity of St Andrews and to capture something of its rich social history.  The conveners’ 
reports on the following pages eloquently summarise the various committees’ achievements 
but perhaps do not convey just how much voluntary effort and time is required to deliver 
them.  In adding my appreciation, I am sure that I reflect the views of our membership. 
 
Mission and Strategic Planning 
The Trust continues to address its mission through its various committees: planning;        
environment; museum; membership, programme, publications and publicity committee 
(MPPPC), fundraising and membership. The committees continue to work to our published 
Strategic Plan (2013-2018). Progress is reviewed periodically by the Policy and Resources 
Committee (PRC).   
 
Staff and Trustees 
As noted in the January newsletter, 2016 has been a year of change – 100% turnover in staff, 
a new chairman, and a significant turnover in Trustees.  We were very fortunate to be able to 
appoint Annie Birrell to the post of office administrator in January and Nicola Moss to the 
post of museum curator in September.  These are key appointments, challenging, and       
carrying significant responsibility. It is therefore very good to be able to report that both are 
growing in their jobs, bringing in fresh ideas and ably supported by some 50 volunteers and 
Trustees. 
 
John Matthews, Andrew Johnson and Roy Chapman all demitted office at our 2016 AGM, 
leaving just 10 Trustees.  Later in the year, Bill Sangster announced his “retiral”, and Annie 
Long and Vice-Chair Peter Murray also stood down for personal reasons. It is impossible to 
do justice to their individual and collective contributions over the years and I can only offer 
my thanks and appreciation.  Finding willing Trustees is not always easy.  Therefore we have 
to be especially appreciative of Jane Claydon, Claire Tynte-Irvine, Peter Haselhurst, Sandy 
Bremner, David Watkinson, and John Sharp for agreeing to become co-opted Trustees.  
  
Tribute 
In late October, the Trust very sadly lost one of its longest, most supportive and generous 
members – our Honorary Vice President, Gillian Falconer.  Gillian’s contribution to the Trust 
over the years has been immense. Her love of plants and gardens was seminal in developing 
the garden at the museum - as was her exceptionally generous financial support.  The 
“Falconry” and museum refurbishment are lasting tributes to her memory.  It is fitting that 
the Trust was able to host a most enjoyable and memorable 90th Birthday Party for Gillian on 
19th March 2016. One of her last acts was a very full donation to enable the re-design of the 
south border - a project to be overseen by Andrew Johnson.  Gillian’s passing is a great loss. 
 
Finance and Property 
I can commend our treasurer, Ian Lumsdaine’s report on our financial situation.  Although we 
continue to run a deficit on normal operations, we ended the year in surplus, thanks to some 
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TRUSTEES, STAFF AND MINUTE SECRETARY 2015/2016 
 

Back row standing left to right: Dr D A Barrie, Mr I S Lumsdaine, Mr D K Seeley,  
Miss Annie Birrell (Administrator) , Mr D H Telfer 

 
Middle row standing left to right: Dr P J Murray, Mr J F Matthews, Dr W K D Borthwick , 

 Mr W Sangster 
 

Front row standing left to right: Mrs  A Long, Miss I R T Bennett, Mrs M E Denyer,  
Miss V Whymant (Minute Secretary), Miss A J M Morris and Sophie 

 
Absent:  Mr A W Johnson, Mr R de C Chapman,  Miss S Bannerman (Curator) 
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very generous legacies.  It is very gratifying that benefactors continue to appreciate the vital  
role that the Trust has played in safeguarding St Andrews’ heritage and to acknowledge just 
how expensive it is likely to become to remain effective in its mission.  Significant upgrading 
was required at the Burgher Kirk which reduced our net property income.  Good progress has 
been made to acquire a legal title to the Bogward doocot.   Our balance sheet ended the year 
significantly stronger, thanks to the legacies and an uplift in the value of our investment   
portfolio, which is managed by Speirs and Jeffrey.   Special thanks are due to Ian for his  
forensic approach to accounting and his fiscal discipline, including the preparation of our 
annual budget and monthly reviews.  Thanks too, are due to our Secretary and Legal Advisor, 
Douglas Kinnear of Thorntons for support on property, legal and constitutional matters, and 
to Joanne Paul of Henderson Black, examiner of our accounts.    
 
Planning 
Each year the burden on the planning committee seems to grow! 2016 was no exception, with 
a 14% increase in numbers of applications.  It will come as no surprise that this has been a 
year of mixed success.   Details are to be found in Sandy Bremner’s report.  The over-riding 
good news is the withdrawal of the application for a replacement Madras College at Pipeland.  
The Trust was very active in opposing this ill-considered proposal and supported STEPAL in 
its valiant struggle for a common sense solution at North Haugh, co-located with the        
University and avoiding the blight of traffic congestion, environmental and safety problems 
associated with Pipeland.  I would like to thank Trust members who also lent support to this 
cause.  Another welcome decision was the refusal for development at the former New Park 
School Playing Fields, a vital open space both for amenity and for the preservation of views 
from the Lade Braes.  The committee’s task is immense, for it extends to follow-up in     
situations where actual development has not complied with permissions.  This unsatisfactory 
situation persists at the Students’ Union building and persisted at the West Port Hotel.   We 
were less successful with our opposition to the extension of the caravan park at Kinkell 
Braes.  Whilst the Trust appreciated the innovative design for The Ocean Research Institute 
at the Gatty Marine Laboratory it has called for a more holistic master plan approach for the 
entire East Sands area – upholding Fife Council’s design guidelines. I applaud Sandy 
Bremner and his committee for their hard and difficult work! 
 
Environment 
Preserving and enhancing the rich built and natural environment is central to the Trust’s   
mission. The Trust continues to monitor the state of streets and buildings in the Conservation 
Area and amenity areas, such as the Lade Braes and has recently written to Historic          
Environment Scotland concerning the growth of vegetation on the abbey wall.  Following a 
survey, it is understood that Fife Council intends to undertake a substantial upgrading of the 
Lade Braes with £50,000 from the Common Good Fund. It is to be hoped that this preserves 
its essentially natural environment.  Boase Wood is one of the Trust’s most precious        
environmental assets.  It provides the beautiful woodland setting for the Law Mill. Inevitably 
it needs a constant programme of maintenance which became somewhat compromised in 
2016.  The environment committee has commissioned an update to the 2014 tree survey and 
it is good to note that Special Branch is now catching up with the general maintenance. Some 
additional tree-work will be required early in 2017.  Thanks to Pilgrim Foundation support, 
restoration of the gold-leaf capitals on the cast iron shop-front pillars was completed during 
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2016.  Such decorative details highlight the outstanding quality of our built heritage.   Thanks are 
due to Marysia and her committee for progressing these various initiatives and also for gaining 
recognition for former Trustee Bill Sangster’s service to St Andrews with his Highly Commended 
certificate Civic Champion Award 2016. 
 
Museum 
Convenor Anne Morris has provided a very comprehensive report on the many activities and 
achievements at the museum.  We have to be very grateful for the contribution made by    
Samantha Bannerman during her term as curator.  Crucially Samantha won many grants, 
mounted  several very interesting and successful exhibitions in 2016, including the opening   
research group exhibition, lost buildings of St Andrews, StANZA, sport in St Andrews, and the 
blacksmith display.   These attracted strong local and visitor support.  She also reviewed our  
policies and procedures and started preparations for renewing our museum’s accreditation.     
 
Our new curator Nicola Moss took up post in September and is already very well assimilated.  
She has quickly adapted to her new situation, revised and prepared leaflets, whilst also advancing 
plans for upgrading the museum store – this in addition to preparing the very full documentation 
required for the accreditation return due to be submitted in October 2017 to Museum Galleries 
Scotland.  
 
The museum also hosted a series of talks linked to the exhibitions, and a second volunteers’  
research group exhibition was held in October.  The exhibition year ended with the annual Art 
and Craft exhibition in November which contributed to fundraising. 
The refurbishment of the kitchen and cloakroom, meticulously overseen by Andrew Johnson, has 
transformed these areas. Once again the Trust is indebted to Gillian Falconer who generously 
donated funds to cover this work.  Lighting outside and in has been upgraded, thanks to Arlen 
Pardoe.  The garden now has access for the disabled and Andrew Johnson is overseeing the   
development of a sensory garden for which he applied for support from St Andrews Community 
Council - and was granted £4000. The sensory garden was the subject of a design competition for 
Elmwood students.  It will be constructed and planted by them. 
 
All in all this has been a busy, but very successful year for the museum. The committee and  
curators are to be congratulated for their efforts which promise to make the museum a must-see 
destination with one of the best small gardens in Scotland. 
 
Membership, Programme, Publicity and Publications Committee 
Grateful thanks are due to joint convenors Derek Barrie and Irene Bennett and the committee 
members for their splendid work in keeping the Trust in the news and for organising some     
excellent and enjoyable events in 2016.   Effective communication is essential in these days of 
instant messaging and we should make more use of electronic communications. It is through our 
newsletters and timeous press communications that events are advertised and the work of the 
Trust is appreciated and new members are attracted.  Unfortunately not all the press coverage is 
balanced, which can be a real challenge for our communications team.   As reported by Derek 
Barrie, we had mixed success with sales of cards and calendars.  
 
It is slightly worrying, but not surprising, that the increase in subscription rates has resulted in 
some reduction in membership.  The number is not yet fully clear as much work is involved in 
verifying standing orders.  A number of initiatives to attract and retain members are under     
consideration.  
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
  

The following booklets are available to purchase from the museum all £2: 
 Men of St Andrews 
 Women of St Andrews 
 St Andrews by the Northern Sea – Harbour and Fishing Community 
 A Sense of Place – Discovering St Andrews (2003) 
 Best Days of Your Life – Schools in St Andrews 
 The People’s War – St Andrews and the Home Front 1939-1945 
 A Century of Childhood (2004) 
 Grand Designs – a stroll down The Scores 
 When the Boat Comes In (2008) 
 Speak Up - Communication in St Andrews (2007) 
 Where the Heart Is - Recipe Book 
 Colours, Curtains and Chords - Arts In St Andrews (2009) 
 Who Cares? Health care and Medicine in St Andrews (2009) 
 The World At Our Door: St Andrews Migration and Travel Stories (2009) 
 St Andrews' Bairns: A Short History of Childhood in St Andrews (2011) 
 Here Comes The Bride: Courtship, Weddings and Married Life in St Andrews (2011) 
 Local Heroes (2010) 
 Step Into the Roaring Twenties: Discover St Andrews in the 1920s (2010) 
 St Andrews & the Great War (2014) 
 The St Andrews School (2013) 
 Sport in St Andrews (2016) 
 Lost Buildings (2016) 
 
  
Significant acquisitions in 2016 
 Early 1900’s mangle 
 St Andrews from the Kinkell Braes by Ada Walker 
 Collection of prints of St Andrews from 1914 
 Collection of documents and programmes relating to the Byre Theatre 
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Fundraising and Programme 
Members benefitted from a full and varied programme of events, starting with Anne Morris’ 
excellent and informative walking tour of the Commemorative Plaques, with summer and winter 
receptions, golf and putting competitions, the Autumn Fair and a St Andrews Ghost Tour.  The 
main fundraising event was Hidden Gardens which attracted large visitor numbers and raised 
very nearly £6000!  
 

Our speaker at the AGM was Derek Watson, FFCA, Quaestor and Factor, University of             
St Andrews.  Derek explained the challenges and financial constraints faced by the university and 
how it plans to further develop and maintain its world leading status. The annual lecture on 
Treasures of the University Library given by Rachel Hart was itself a treasure – a fascinating 
insight into some of the priceless artefacts held by the university. This short overview completely 
fails to do justice to these very well organised and well catered events which are vital to fostering 
fellowship amongst our members – thanks to the tremendous effort by Irene Bennett, the        
committee and the many volunteers.   
 
Looking Forward 
The core mission and strategic priorities of the Trust remain as valid as ever.  The Trust will  
review and update its Strategic Plan and Action Plan, as well as the range of policies supporting 
its activities.  
 
Pressure for development continues apace and the planning committee faces stern challenges in 
respect of major development at Craigtoun North, St Andrews West, the East Sands and the   
redevelopment of Madras College South Street.  The Trust looks forward to establishing        
constructive dialogue with concerned stakeholders with a view to mitigating impacts.  It is a  
matter of real concern that the ambition to develop is not matched by a commitment to develop a 
coherent master plan and sustainable urban mobility plan.  
  
The Trust will seek to grow its membership and foster the development of the museum and   
garden with increased attention to education and learning particularly for young persons.  A main 
objective is to secure the continuation of the museum’s accreditation.  The south border of the 
museum garden will be re-modelled thanks to the late Gillian Falconer’s generous donation.  It is 
also intended to upgrade the museum store at 4 Queen’s Gardens.  Competitions for the Pride of 
Place Award and the Murray Medal for a publishable work on the history of St Andrews will also 
be launched.  
 
2017 promises to be an eventful year – it is the 80th anniversary of the founding of the Trust and 
the 20th anniversary of the launch of Hidden Gardens.  A programme of exhibitions, social events 
and a special publication to mark the 80th anniversary of the founding of the Trust in 1937 is  
envisaged.   
 

May I close by reiterating my appreciation to staff, volunteers and fellow Trustees.  

 
 
 
 
Dr W K D Borthwick 
Chairman  
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Significant acquisitions in 2016 
 Early 1900’s mangle 
 St Andrews from the Kinkell Braes by Ada Walker 
 Collection of prints of St Andrews from 1914 
 Collection of documents and programmes relating to the Byre Theatre 
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Fundraising and Programme 
Members benefitted from a full and varied programme of events, starting with Anne Morris’ 
excellent and informative walking tour of the Commemorative Plaques, with summer and winter 
receptions, golf and putting competitions, the Autumn Fair and a St Andrews Ghost Tour.  The 
main fundraising event was Hidden Gardens which attracted large visitor numbers and raised 
very nearly £6000!  
 

Our speaker at the AGM was Derek Watson, FFCA, Quaestor and Factor, University of             
St Andrews.  Derek explained the challenges and financial constraints faced by the university and 
how it plans to further develop and maintain its world leading status. The annual lecture on 
Treasures of the University Library given by Rachel Hart was itself a treasure – a fascinating 
insight into some of the priceless artefacts held by the university. This short overview completely 
fails to do justice to these very well organised and well catered events which are vital to fostering 
fellowship amongst our members – thanks to the tremendous effort by Irene Bennett, the        
committee and the many volunteers.   
 
Looking Forward 
The core mission and strategic priorities of the Trust remain as valid as ever.  The Trust will  
review and update its Strategic Plan and Action Plan, as well as the range of policies supporting 
its activities.  
 
Pressure for development continues apace and the planning committee faces stern challenges in 
respect of major development at Craigtoun North, St Andrews West, the East Sands and the   
redevelopment of Madras College South Street.  The Trust looks forward to establishing        
constructive dialogue with concerned stakeholders with a view to mitigating impacts.  It is a  
matter of real concern that the ambition to develop is not matched by a commitment to develop a 
coherent master plan and sustainable urban mobility plan.  
  
The Trust will seek to grow its membership and foster the development of the museum and   
garden with increased attention to education and learning particularly for young persons.  A main 
objective is to secure the continuation of the museum’s accreditation.  The south border of the 
museum garden will be re-modelled thanks to the late Gillian Falconer’s generous donation.  It is 
also intended to upgrade the museum store at 4 Queen’s Gardens.  Competitions for the Pride of 
Place Award and the Murray Medal for a publishable work on the history of St Andrews will also 
be launched.  
 
2017 promises to be an eventful year – it is the 80th anniversary of the founding of the Trust and 
the 20th anniversary of the launch of Hidden Gardens.  A programme of exhibitions, social events 
and a special publication to mark the 80th anniversary of the founding of the Trust in 1937 is  
envisaged.   
 

May I close by reiterating my appreciation to staff, volunteers and fellow Trustees.  

 
 
 
 
Dr W K D Borthwick 
Chairman  



29

Bogward Doocot 
In our October Newsletter, thanks were expressed to Dr Peter Murray for his diligent         
background research on this property. Through his efforts the deeds and legal status of       
Bogward Doocot were being sought, to establish the Trust's ownership of this unique building. 
 
Shop Fronts 
In our March newsletter I reported that this initiative had now reached conclusion with our 
final gold leaf restoration having been completed at Minick in Bell Street. We extended our 
sincere thanks to Art Historian, Dr John Frew for his vision in bringing the Victorian cast iron 
pillars back to life.  
We also thanked Jake Brown for his skilled, intricate and delicate workmanship of his gold leaf 
handiwork. Our grateful thanks were also extended to the Pilgrim Foundation for generously  
financing all the shop fronts that had been restored in recent years. 
 
Scottish Civic Trust “Civic Champion” Award 2016 
Towards the end of 2015 local citizen, octogenarian and Trustee Bill Sangster was nominated 
by The St Andrews Preservation Trust for the “Civic Champion” Award 2016. On Tuesday 
22nd March, the Scottish Civic Trust held their Annual Awards at the Lighthouse in Glasgow. 
Bill was awarded a “Highly Commended” Certificate for his commitment to the local          
community. Recognition of his dedication to our Royal Burgh was viewed as being “richly 
deserved” and we were highly delighted with his success. 
 
A Fond Farewell! 
Sadly I reported in the October newsletter that Bill Sangster had decided to stand down as a 
Trustee. During his term of office he had proved to be our mentor on many issues that the Trust 
had to handle, especially with planning. Guided by his wide knowledge of council matters 
through his experience as a local Fife councillor, we would miss his valued input as a Trustee. 
We wished him a well deserved happy, healthy and enjoyable retirement. 
 
New Committee Member 
With the appointment of several new Trustees at our AGM in May 2016, I was delighted to 
report in our final newsletter of 2016 that the Environment Committee had acquired a new 
member. We were joined by Dr David Watkinson. He had expressed his interest in supporting 
Simon Kidd on the Gordon Christie Plaques Bequest sub-committee. We were delighted to 
welcome him at our September meeting where he was introduced to all the committee       
members. 
 
FUNDRAISING  AND PROGRAMMECOMMITTEE 
Joint Convener: Miss I R T Bennett 

A guided walking tour of Commemorative Plaques in St Andrews was led by Anne Morris on 
Friday 29th April, 2016. The plaques have been erected to commemorate notable people who 
have lived or worked in the town. Anne had prepared a comprehensive pack for each person. 
Refreshments were served in the Museum following the walk when Anne was warmly thanked 
for her meticulous preparation. 
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ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE  
Convener Mrs M E Denyer 
 
Looking back at 2016! 
 
Boase Wood 
As always, our “Keeper of the Woods” Ian Christie and his wife Adah kept me informed on 
the woodland's upkeep and whether any work was required in terms of safety for the general 
public. The chain link on the boundary fence had been repaired by Henderson Fabrication 
and several missing links replaced. The wooden steps on the central pathway, leading through 
the trees to the main road had also been repaired. Despite experiencing some severe winter 
weather during the early months of the year,  Boase Wood had remained relatively unscathed. 
However it was during a cold spell in February that one of the trees suffered damage. A   
concerned neighbour living in a property next to the boundary wall, contacted the Trust to 
inform us of the situation. The tree was duly felled by Special Branch. At the same time they 
also completed their regular maintenance programme.  As Langton Tree Specialists had   
surveyed Boase Wood in 2014,  a review and re-inspection was considered which would take 
place later in the year or early 2017. In July I had an informal meeting with Mark Edward of 
Special Branch. He assured me that his company's “pro bono” service would continue for the 
foreseeable future. This meeting also gave me the opportunity to thank him personally for his 
help and expertise with the woodland's maintenance. He intended to visit the wood in late 
autumn. This would involve three days work with his whole team and on this occasion would 
require funding. This forward plan did not come to fruition in the latter part of 2016.  A        
re-inspection of Boase Wood with Langton Tree Specialists was undertaken and work with 
Special Branch has recommenced.  
 
Heritage Daffodil Bulbs 
Due to wet, winter weather in January, the proposed bulb planting was delayed. Jenny      
Sibbald of St Andrews In Bloom assured us that this would take place by mid February. 
 
Heritage Sign 
Despite my enthusiasm and personal wish to see this proposal become a reality, the year 
ended without any progress. Following advice from Fife Council's Development Central  
office, I photographed the exemplars in St Mary's Quad and took the various measurements 
required by their planning department. However the Fife Direct E Planning portal proved to 
be difficult for this septuagenarian to master. I approached our planning committee members 
and hoped that they would support me in filling out the online planning application.  
 
Lade Braes Survey 
In March I reported that both Bill Sangster and I had taken several photos of the upper and 
lower pathways of the Lade Braes. This was done in support of Jim McArthur's personal  
survey. By July we were still waiting for further information regarding the necessary      
maintenance and repairs to the pathways. Bill Sangster had made copious enquiries with our 
local councillors regarding the Lade Braes state of disrepair and the urgent need for an action 
plan to upgrade the area. 
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MEMBERSHIP,  PUBLICITY AND PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Joint Convener Dr. D. A. Barrie (Membership, Publications and Publicity) 
 
Two committees continued to meet as one with Joint Conveners Derek Barrie and Irene   
Bennett. Thanks go to committee members Marysia Denyer, Irene Bennett, Jane Claydon, 
Peter Haselhurst, co-opted members Howard Greenwell and John Beaton; Simon Kidd also 
played a vital part by keeping members informed through the “Dates for your diary” column 
in the members’ newsletter. Unfortunately we lost the services of Annie Long as a trustee 
because of increased work commitments. 
 
Membership dropped throughout the year. This inevitably happens when subscriptions are 
raised. A great deal of time and effort is required to chase up members in arrears or who have 
not changed their standing orders. 
 
The question of life members was carefully analysed and it was agreed that with people   
living longer life members were getting too good a deal. So an appeal was made to life    
members which raised £3,000. Some life members have now taken out standing orders for an 
annual donation to the Trust. We have also successfully promoted legacies and another 
£60,000 was bequeathed to the Trust in 2016. 
 
The Trust again took part in the rotary charity Christmas card sale which had fewer charities 
participating and fewer members of the public attending and buying. Discussions involving 
participating charities are ongoing as to how to revamp the event and we will take part again 
in 2017. A feature of sales of our cards, which took us by surprise, was the popularity of 
cards intended as notelets. They were sold as blank cards on which private personal messages 
could be written. The trust produced   an excellent calendar designed by Arlen Pardoe. For a 
variety of reasons the calendars did not sell well and incurred a considerable loss. No       
calendar is being produced for 2018. 
 
The addition of an April/May edition of the members’ newsletter means there will once again 
be quarterly newsletters.  Thanks are again due to a number of people for their part in the  
production and distribution of the newsletter; Howard Greenwell lays it out, Fiona McEwan 
of West Port Print and Design prints it, our administrator Annie Birrell gets mailings ready 
for stuffing and Simon Kidd, who helps in other ways with the newsletter also delivers it on 
foot to St Andrews members. 
 
The saga of selecting a site for the new Madras rumbled on through 2016. The Board of  
Trustees financially, morally and very publicly supported STEPAL and kept members fully 
informed through the newsletter and other communications with members. The Trust warmly 
welcomed the court decision which has led to the abandonment by Fife Council of Pipeland 
as the site for the new school. 
 
The publicity remit of the MPPP Committee is primarily through the press to whom I send 
press releases on a fairly regular basis. Relations with the “Courier” and the “Citizen” vary 
from time to time. We continue to find that the papers lay stress on reporting events that have 
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Our major fundraising event of the year, Hidden Gardens, was held on Sunday 26th June. We 
were blessed with fine weather for most of the day. The rain started to fall at four o’clock and 
this hindered the big clear-up at the end of the day. The musical programme at St John’s 
House ran from noon until three o’clock and included Fife Horn Union, Billy Anderson and 
the Kilrymont Accordion band and Leuchars Military Wives Choir. The catering at St John’s 
was organised most efficiently by Daphne Matthews, assisted by John Beaton; their assistants 
were kept busy all day. The Museum Curator and Kate Ekanger were in charge of the       
volunteers at the Museum. Jill Cameron’s stall was, as usual, popular and we are grateful to 
Jill for donating all proceeds to the Trust. Visitor numbers were 635 and the net profit was 
£5,807. 
 
This event is only possible by the contribution of members and volunteers to whom we are 
extremely grateful. If you have never helped at the event, please consider offering your    
services for a couple of hours at this year’s Hidden Gardens on Sunday 25th June. This will 
be the 20th anniversary. 
 
The Summer Reception on 15th July took place in the Museum Garden and was attended by 
seventy members and friends. An excellent buffet was provided by our administrator, Annie 
Birrell’s, mother. Our chairman, Bill Borthwick, presented the Museum Curator, Samantha 
Bannerman, with a gift from the Trustees as she left to take up a new post in Dundee. 
 
The golf championship, organised by Howard Greenwell, was held on the Strathtyrum 
Course on Monday 22nd August. The men’s champion was John Ireland and the women’s 
champion was Sheena Storie. The putting competition, organised by Derek Barrie, was held 
on the Himalayas, courtesy of St Andrews Ladies’ Putting Club, on Wednesday 24th August. 
Twenty-five people participated and the winner was Isabell MacArthur. After the prizegiving 
a buffet supper was enjoyed in the club shelter. 
 
The Autumn Fair was held in the Museum on Sunday 4th September. This fair is held every 
second year and this is the first time it has been on a Sunday. The attendance was noticeably 
smaller than in previous years although the weather was good. There were a number of    
attractive and interesting stalls and the sum raised was £1,127. 
 
Richard Falconer of St Andrews Ghost Tours organised one of his tours for members and 
friends of the Trust. Ten members joined him on 14th October – a showery and windy     
evening – for the walk. Richard generously donated his fee of £100 to the Trust. 
 
The Annual Lecture “Treasures of the University Library” on 20th October departed from the 
format of previous years. It was held in The Music School of St Leonards School which 
proved a popular venue. The lecturer was Rachel Hart, the Muniment Archivist and Deputy 
Head of Special Collections at the University of St Andrews Library. Wine and canapes were 
served from 6.30pm before the lecture at 7.15pm. This successful format will be repeated in 
2017. 
 
The Winter Reception was held in the Museum; it was attended by about forty members who 
were entertained by Red Wine Productions -Alan Tricker and Brenda Hunter – who gave 
seasonal readings. Drinks and Christmas fare were served prior to the entertainment. 
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was a very popular and extremely capable Curator with vision and verve who in addition 
provided excellent advice and guidance since she took up the post in January 2013.  
She is to be congratulated on her success in raising funds for the Museum and its Programme 
of Events. This included her funding application for £430 for the 3 day Festival Of Museums 
Exhibition, the sponsorship of £100 from the St Andrews Brewing Company for the Lost 
Buildings Exhibition & a grant of £784 which  has been approved to help with the setting–up 
of the Blacksmith Exhibition in the new Exhibition Room in the Garden.   
 
The members of the Museum Committee and the Volunteers held a ‘Coffee, Cake & Farewell 
Party’ for Samantha on the 21st July at which time we all learned more about this            
forthcoming, exciting new step in her career path. 
 
All of the Volunteers and the members of the Museum Committee will miss her enormously 
but we are sure that all Trust Members join us in wishing Samantha “Good Luck!” & “All the 
Best for a Very Successful Future.”  
 
Prior to her departure Samantha reviewed and up-dated all of the Museum Policies and    
Procedures including the Emergency Manual which was updated to incorporate the new 
buildings in the Garden. 
 
The 2014-2016 Forward Plan has also been up-dated. Objectives that were only partially 
achieved have been brought forward into the 2016-2018 Forward Plan. New Objectives are 
implemented in the new Forward Plan. Copies of The Forward Plan, the up-dated Policies 
and Procedures and the Emergency Manual were circulated to the Board of Trustees        
following the Trust’s 2016 AGM. 
 
Should any Member of the Trust wish to peruse these documents, copies are available to read 
in the Research Room at the Museum.  
 
Appointment of New Curator: The Trust had received 22 Applications for the Curator’s Post. 
A short leet was drawn up & Interviews were held on the 3rd August 2016 in the Museum. 
The successful candidate was Nicola Moss. An ‘Induction Programme’ had been prepared for 
Nicola as she took up her new post on the 8th September and in addition Samantha had     
prepared detailed hand-over notes. Nicola has settled in extremely well and has already    
tackled many of the tasks and  undertaken many of the responsibilities as detailed in the Hand
-over Notes. In addition to up-dating the Museum & Garden Guide Leaflet she has prepared 
and had printed the Museum Events 2017 Leaflet as well as completing a number of the   
Museum Policies and Plans documents required in support of the forthcoming Application 
for the Museum to achieve Full Accreditation in 2017. 
 
I know that Members would wish to join the members of the Museum Committee in wishing 
Nicola every success in 2017! 
 
Accreditation: The Curator received notification from Museum Galleries Scotland, in       
December 2016, that they have reviewed the Accreditation Return Schedule and they have 
decided to increase the period between Accreditation Returns. The St Andrews Preservation 
Trust Museum is one of the first to be effected. The Museum will now be receiving a letter on 
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happened whereas the Trust tries to get the press to report on events that have still to take 
place (as a way of advertising such events).  We do have excellent relations with former  
University photographer and former trustee Peter Adamson who often takes photographs for 
us. 
 
Other attempts at gaining publicity for trust events include posters to local shops, hotels and 
guest houses. This is particularly true in publicising “Hidden Gardens” always on the last 
Sunday in June. We are always looking for new ways of publicising it.  Messrs J&G Innes 
are especially helpful in decorating a window to advertise the event.  
 
There were no new publications this year other than newsletters and the Year Book. We can, 
however, report that the history of the museum building at 12 North Street has sold well 
throughout the year. Apparently £50,000 from the common good fund is to be used for much 
needed work in the Lade Braes. Trustees have agreed that we approach Fife Council with an 
offer to print a second edition of “A walk through the Lade Braes” –one of our most popular 
publications which still sells well. 
 
To sum up: a declining membership is worrying and we wish Peter Haselhurst who takes on 
responsibility for membership after the AGM, well with various initiatives for increasing 
membership. Press coverage has been satisfactory though we should be trying to attach more 
photographs to press releases. A revamp of the design and format of the members’ newsletter 
is overdue. Reprinting the Lade Braes booklet would be a good way of celebrating the Trust’s 
80th anniversary.  
  
MUSEUM COMMITTEE 
Convener Miss A J M Morris  
 

 
 

Museum Curator’s Post : An important item of News from the Museum is that Samantha 
Bannerman, the Museum Curator, was appointed to an exciting post at the Museum of   
Transport in Dundee. This is a new post within the Transport Museum and initially along 
with its day-to-day management Samantha will be responsible for the development and 
preparation of the Museum with regard to it becoming an Accredited Museum. Her new post 
title is Museum Manager. 
Her final day in post at the Preservation Trust Museum was the 27th July 2016. 
Samantha’s contribution to the developments within the Trust Museum was outstanding and 
her unique talents in creating popular and excellent Exhibitions, her skills in marketing the 
Museum and her knowledge of funding sources and associated links has ensured that the 
Museum has gone from strength to strength under her scrupulous  care and management. She 

At the Museum Committee Meeting held on Thursday the 10th November, Chaired by      
Dr Peter Murray, it was with much sadness that the members of the Committee recorded 
the death on Thursday the 27th October 2016 of Miss Gillian Falconer. 
Gillian’s financial and active support of the Museum and the Garden, which she loved, 
spanned many decades and she was an active member of the Museum Committee until 
her health declined. She will be sorely missed but fondly remembered and it is a great 
tribute to her that her generosity will be recalled & thought of in every area of the Garden 
and the Building at Number 12 North Street.  
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was a very popular and extremely capable Curator with vision and verve who in addition 
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happened whereas the Trust tries to get the press to report on events that have still to take 
place (as a way of advertising such events).  We do have excellent relations with former  
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us. 
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photographs to press releases. A revamp of the design and format of the members’ newsletter 
is overdue. Reprinting the Lade Braes booklet would be a good way of celebrating the Trust’s 
80th anniversary.  
  
MUSEUM COMMITTEE 
Convener Miss A J M Morris  
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Independent Museums entitled ‘Stop The Rot’. The training offered much practical advice 
relating to the storing of items in the Trust’s collections.                                                                                        
Public Surveillance Licence: The Museum Mentor, Emma Jane Wells, sought further advice 
from the University’s Security Manager about this matter and he confirmed that the           
Preservation Trust does not require a licence because the CCTV is only used for security 
purposes and is an unmanned monitor. 
 
Photographic Archive: Prior to the Curator’s departure she and Pat Harvey met on two     
occasions to evaluate the Archive. An unaccessioned box of slides which is of no interest to 
the Museum will be offered to the University and George Dickens has very kindly agreed to 
view further boxes of slides to ascertain their relevance. 
 
Computer in the Museum: Thanks are due to Arlen Pardoe who has upgraded the Museum 
computer to Windows 10 and he reported that all is working well. 
 
2016 : Another Successful and Busy Year at the Museum.  
The Research Group Exhibition was officially opened by the Trust’s Vice-Chairman Dr Peter 
Murray at the Preview held on Friday 29th January. The Exhibition was well attended despite 
some inclement weather and all of the contributors from the Research Group are to be      
congratulated on their very interesting and informative Projects. 
 
The Easter Exhibition Lost Buildings : 26th March – 24th April 2016. The Volunteers’       
Preview was held on 24th March and the Exhibition Preview on the 25th March. The          
Exhibition documented some of the historically significant buildings of St Andrews that have 
been lost through demolition. Through photographs, objects and the stories of those who 
lived, worked and enjoyed them, these buildings were brought back to life. Volunteers Kate 
Ekanger and Marjorie Dickens assisted in the installation of the Exhibition. 
 
The Curator is to be congratulated on an excellent exhibition – indeed one Past Chairman was 
heard to remark that it was the “Best Yet!”   The photographs and text have been carefully 
packed away in a box in the attic so that it can easily be re-installed if required. 
 
Gillian Falconer’s 90th Birthday Party, held on Saturday the 19th March,was a great success 
due to Irene Bennett’s meticulous planning and organization of the event. Thanks go to her 
and the Curator for all their hard work which ensured that the party was memorable.             
A  delicious Afternoon Tea was served.  
 
There was a slight increase in the number of visitors at the 2016 StANZA Exhibitions ‘A 
Potter, A Painter and a Poet’ held in the Museum and Garden & the ‘Poet-Perfumer in     
Residence’ held in the Chemist Shop in the Museum.  
Festival of Museums 2016 – ‘Strike a Pose!’ - 13th-15th May. This very enjoyable event    
included a photo-booth where visitors could have their own Victorian Studio Portrait taken. It 
proved to be very popular! Sheila Kinnimonth was the popular story-teller in the upper     
gallery where visitors were able to ‘meet some local worthies’ in the Photographic exhibition 
of Victorian Studio portraits. 
The St Andrews Play Club: Shakespeare’s Greatest Hits held on the 18th, 19th & 20th May 
2016 was very successful and was performed to Full Houses in what is being described as ‘St 
Andrews’ Smallest Theatre!’  
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31st March 2017 ( 3 months later than previously ) requesting a completed Accreditation  
Return to be  submitted by the 2nd October 2017.  
 
Preservation Trust Budget - Budget for Year to 31st December 2016: The Curator and the 
Convenor continued to receive monthly returns from the Treasurer Ian Lumsdaine, with his 
comments, throughout 2016. These were studied and if required Ian advised on necessary 
action. A meeting was held in December 2016 to Plan the proposed Budget for Year to    
December 31st 2017 and after study of the 2016 Budget figures a Museum Budget was drawn 
up and approved by the Treasurer. 
                                                                                    
Museum Committee: The final 2015 -2016 Meeting of the Museum Committee was held on 
the 4th May 2016.  
 
As Roy Chapman, Vice-Convener of the Museum Committee, has completed his term of 
office as a Member of the Trust’s Board of Trustees he also ‘retired’ from the Museum   
Committee.  Roy’s wise and measured advice and conscientious support of the Museum and 
its undertakings, over many years, have been of inestimable value.   
 
The Committee must also thank Pat Harvey, the Secretary of the Committee, who has 
‘managed the impossible’ which was to record the Minute of the Meetings so accurately and 
efficiently, over many years. Even when more than one person was speaking she remained 
unruffled and distributed a very comprehensive Minute, for perusal, prior to the next      
Committee Meeting.  Fortunately, Pat is to remain as a member of the Committee wearing 
her Archivist’s hat and thus the Museum Committee will still be able to draw on her vast 
knowledge of the History of the Museum and its photographic collection. Following the 
Trust’s AGM held in May and at the Committee meeting held on the 9th June the new mem-
bers of the Committee, Peter Murray, Veronica Whymant and Dave Seeley were welcomed 
on board. 
 
The composition of the Museum Committee is now as follows:- Vice-Convener – Dr Peter 
Murray: Learning and Activities Co-ordinator - Lesley Barrie: Volunteers’                           
Co-ordinator – Kate Ekanger: Photographic Archivist  - Pat Harvey: Oral                              
Archivist - Veronica Whymant: Museum Development Advisor – Andrew Johnson: IT & 
Security Advisor – Arlen Pardoe: Property Maintenance – Dave Seeley: Museum            
Mentor – Emma Jane Wells:  Convener – Anne Morris.  
 
Pat Harvey has handed over her copies of the Minutes of the Museum Committee Meetings 
which date from August 2000 to December 2014 and January 2015 to the present. The     
Curator’s Reports, along with notes on the Russell Album and the Sea Box Society are also 
included. It was agreed that all of these will make a valuable addition to the files in the    
Research Room.  Pat was warmly thanked for the many years she has taken the Minutes 
which were always so comprehensive and meticulous.  
Training:  Fife Museum’s Forum had been granted funding for members to undertake a    
Management Development Programme from early March – August 2016. The course       
consisted of four workshops (3 of which were half- day events) with all of the workshops 
taking place in Fife. The Curator was offered a place and attended the Workshops.  
The Curator and Marjorie Dickens attended a training day hosted by the Association of     
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unstinting attention, regular (early morning!) site visits and scrupulous vigilance of the works 
undertaken in the Museum have resulted in an outstanding refurbishment of the cloakroom 
and a high-quality bespoke kitchen. The Trust is profoundly indebted to Miss Gillian       
Falconer whose benefaction enabled these works to be undertaken. 
 
The new lighting in the back garden is proving to be most effective as well as providing a 
much safer environment. 
 
The Curator and the Committee are extremely grateful to Arlen Pardoe who has replaced the 
transformer in the Track - lighting in the Upstairs Gallery, which has improved the lighting, 
considerably, in this area.  
 
The D’Arcy Thompson Panel has been placed in the courtyard area of the Garden and is 
proving to be of interest to visitors. 
 
The large Volunteer Hall Entrance sign, accessioned when the Hall was demolished, has been 
installed in the outside covered area in the garden. 
  
Further to the excellent refurbishment/re-interpretation of the Chemist’s Shop by Bianca 
Packham it was noted that lighting was needed over the display cabinets and Arlen Pardoe 
kindly agreed to establish what was required. These have now been donated and fitted by 
him. Bianca’s re-interpretation and the importance of such an improvement to the Chemist 
Shop as part of the Museum’s permanent display cannot be over-stated - visitor experience 
will be enhanced and the educational value for school visits enriched. 
 
The Garden was open during Hidden Gardens Day on the 26th June. Due to the work on the 
interior paths allowing wheelchair use, on the 26th June a sign was displayed for the first time 
at the Hidden Gardens Day about access for the disabled and it was noted that this was gained 
successfully on the day 
The Museum Garden was entered into two annual garden competitions. The first group of 
Judges visited the Garden in the afternoon of Wednesday the 22nd July with the second group 
visiting on the 3rd August. The garden was given a special ‘sprucing - up’ on the afternoon of 
the 21st, after the Volunteers’ and the Museum Committee’s farewell party for Sam.  
 
In June Andrew Johnson advised the Committee that £4000 had been awarded from the St 
Andrews Community Trust following his written application for funding for the Sensory 
Garden Project. 
  
He also advised that The Falconry interior has been completed with new shelving etc. The 
exterior of the Museum has been painted and looks splendid. The remaining funds in the   
Falconer Fund were used to meet the costs of this work.  
 
Andrew Johnson continues to liaise with the staff and students from Elmwood College, who 
have started work on laying the foundations of the paths and the central gazebo in the       
creation of the Sensory Garden. 
 
 Elsewhere in the garden Andrew discovered what appeared to be an old gravestone which 
had been unearthed during preparatory work for the foundation of The Falconry. This is    
currently being investigated by The Scape Trust who are interested in recording the stone 
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Alan Tricker and the members of St Andrews Play Club are to be congratulated on their 
splendid performances and also thanked for their generosity in staging this fund-raising event 
for the Preservation Trust and The Friends of the Byre.  
 
The Summer Exhibition held from the 28th May- 2nd October Sticks & Stones, Bats and Balls: 
Sport in St Andrews offered visitors, in Olympic Year 2016, a glimpse into the amazing    
history of sport in St Andrews. Win, lose or draw, for fun or competition, sport plays an    
important role in communities across the world. Trustee Dave Seeley had created a football 
photograph album for the Exhibition and has assisted the Curator throughout the planning 
stages. 
 
A series of talks were held in the Museum to coincide with this Exhibition. These included St 
Leonards: First in the Field by Jane Claydon & an associated talk given by Keith Neilson & 
Ian Poole, entitled Our Sporting Lives.  These informative and entertaining talks were very 
well received.  
 
Dave Seeley had written an article, on Sport in St Andrews, for The Citizen which was not 
published. The Curator offered the article to Flora Selwyn, accompanied by photographs, for 
possible inclusion in a future issue of St Andrews in Focus. 
 
The Blacksmith display/permanent exhibition was opened on the evening of the Summer 
Reception.  In particular, the video is an excellent addition to a very attractive and             
informative resource in the Museum Garden Buildings.  Well worth a visit.   After the      
Exhibition the video will be copied on to a CD for preservation purposes.  
 
The 2nd of the Volunteers’ Research Group Exhibitions held from the 8th-16th October was 
very attractively presented and show-cased previous projects. The Committee members and 
the Research Group members are extremely grateful to Arlen Pardoe who produced a great 
number of very detailed and very professional additional booklets related to the individual 
projects. Unfortunately, due to copyright issues, these cannot be sold but copies may be    
studied in the Research Room at the Museum. Arlen also continues to digitise the research 
project. 
 
The St Andrews Voices Installation Mortuos Plango, Vivos Voco was open to the public   
between the 20th to the 23rd of October. This had been described as ‘…a 10 minute             
masterpiece…poignant, even haunting’ (Financial Times) & for some of those who visited 
the Museum and experienced the sound installation this appeared to be a good description 
although others felt that the Museum was too small to give full effect to the sound and a    
larger building e.g. The Town Church might have been a more appropriate setting.  
Unfortunately, due to pressure of time on the pupils involved in setting up the Madras      
Archive Group Exhibition, this event has been postponed until further notice. 
 
The final exhibition of the year, the Annual Art & Craft Exhibition opened on the 26th      
November and closed on the 4th December with the Preview Night held on Friday 25th      
November. The funds raised from this event were boosted as some of the exhibitors donated 
all of their sales monies.  
 
Developments within the Garden and the Museum: 
The newly re-furbished kitchen and cloakroom in the Museum:- Andrew Johnson’s          
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experience) which is always used to full effect.  We benefit from the active participation of 
students from the Town and Regional Planning Faculty at the University of Dundee. 
Bill Borthwick stood down as Convener on his election as Chairman of the Trust, but remains 
a regular mentor to the Planning Committee.  Also, Bill Sangster retired from the Committee 
during the year.  The Committee conveys its thanks to the two Bills for their service to the 
Planning Committee over many years. 
 
Overview Of Applications Reviewed 
The number of planning applications registered in 2016 has increased by 14% compared to 
those registered in 2015.  In all, 337 applications of all types were registered in the               
St Andrews ward during 2016.  Between, July and December there were 164 applications 
registered as follows: 
 
Applications Registered (164) 
 Pre-Application Screening        1 
 Proposed Application Notice       3 
 Planning Permission in Principle     2  
 Full Planning Permission         79 
 Listed Building Consent         25 
 Non-Material Variations         20 
 Advertisement Consents         6    
 Tree Conservation Area          14 
 Certificate of Lawfulness (proposed)   7 
 Certificate of Lawfulness (existing)   6 
 Discharge of Planning Obligation    1 
 
The Planning Committee objected and commented on the following significant planning     
applications: 
 
Planning Applications Ongoing 
 Planning Application 16/03072/FULL and Listed Building Consent              

16/03071/LBC - Outdoor dining area and external alterations including re-positioning 
of  retractable roof at the West Port Hotel, 170 South Street; 

 16/03779/FULL - Installation of replacement street lighting columns and ancillary 
works at North Castle Street and East Scores; and 

 Together: 
  15/00762/NMV1 - External alterations to restaurant including erection of bin 

store, installation of window and door (Non-Material Variation To 
15/00762/FULL - To retain external store and kitchen, remove proposed 
external bin store and alterations to balustrade) at The Glass House, 80 
North Street; and 

  16/04015/FULL - Installation of replacement balustrade (retrospective) and 
change of use from public footpath to outside seating area at The Glass 
House, 80 North Street. 
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with a photographic technique called RTI. In essence this means that they will digitally map 
the stone from all angles, then using a specially designed programme will be able to read 
what is carved on the stone.  
  
The work required to replace the pipe-work leading from the W.C. was successfully        
completed on Monday 14th November. Apparently the existing pipe-work was totally       
inadequate. The Museum displays were refurbished by an in-house team of Volunteers prior 
to the Arts and Crafts Exhibition. 
 
The painting of the ceiling, downstairs, was completed early in December and it is hoped that 
the wooden floor downstairs will be sanded and varnished in 2017. 
 
Volunteers:  
A new camera has been purchased for the Museum, funded by the Volunteers’ Fund. It is 
intended that £100 from this fund will meet the printing costs of the ‘Blacksmith’ Exhibition. 
 
End-of-Season Party - This was a happy occasion and Nicola was warmly welcomed to her 
first Volunteers’ get to-gether. At the party Dr Robert Prescott presented the Annabel Kidston 
portrait which has been purchased from the Volunteers’ Fund. The portrait is of Sir Francis 
Ibiam, (d.o.b. 29:11:1906) the first African Student to matriculate at St Andrews University. 
He became Governor of Eastern Nigeria and died in 1995.  
                                                                                     
Talks: 
16th February: talk by Claire Robinson on Recording Scotland 
16th March: talk by the Curator on The Trust’s Archive 
13th April: Walk and Talk by Andrew Johnson on Stonemasons’ Marks 
26th October: talk by Arlen Pardoe on Post Boxes in St Andrews.  
23rd November: talk by Susan Kettles on The Fife Pilgrim Way  
 
This year the Trust Museum, through the varied and informative Events, Exhibitions and 
Activities Programme, has attracted thousands of visitors from home and abroad and gained 
an excellent reputation. The Museum Team - the Curator, the Volunteers and the members of 
the Museum Committee - are to be congratulated and thanked for their unstinting &         
assiduous endeavours to provide visitors with a glimpse into the Social History of the Town. 
They have ensured that the aim of the Trust to display and interpret the collections for the 
enjoyment and education of local residents and visitors to St Andrews has been                
comprehensively accomplished. 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Convener Mr A G Bremner 
 
In 2016, the Planning Committee comprised Sandy Bremner (Convener), Peter Donaldson 
(Vice Planning Convenor), John Peacock, Bill Sangster, David Seeley, John Sharp, Claire 
Tynte-Irvine and David Watkinson.  David Middleton is an ex-officio member of the       
committee, providing advice on planning policy. 
 
The Committee has a broad range of knowledge and experience (both technical and of life 
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capacity.  We nevertheless consider that our efforts and occasional successes are essential if the 
objectives of the Trust are to be realised. 
 
POLICY AND RESOURCE COMMITTEE 
Convener Dr W K D Borthwick 
 
The Policy and Resources Committee (PRC) which comprises the chair, vice chairs, conveners 
of committees, sub-committees and the treasurer was established in 2013 with the remit to   
review priorities and monitor progress on the strategic actions set out in the Strategic           
Plan 2013-2018.  The committee, which met periodically during 2016, received financial     
reports from the treasurer and reports from the conveners of the various committees            
implementing the actions.  It also discussed possible new initiatives in line with the strategic 
priorities as well as planning for the 80th anniversary of the founding of the Trust.  Other      
matters relating to securing the Trust’s title to the Bogward doocot have been progressed and 
areas of concern such as 1 Greyfriars Garden have been discussed.  The committee also      
received an interesting proposal for introducing a shopping website but considered that the 
projected volume of sales could not justify the charges.   The possible development of internet 
activities has also been discussed.   The recommendations of the PRC are taken forward to the 
various committees for consideration and final outcomes are reflected in the various committee 
annual reports.  Special thanks are due to our former Vice Chair, Dr Peter Murray who        
convened this committee for several years.   

TREASURER’S REPORT 
Honorary Treasurer Mr Ian S Lumsdaine 
 
The accounts for the year, and the financial review in the Trustees Report, show how the funds 
of the Trust increased by £138,125.  Included in this figure is £74,366 of unrealised gain on our 
investment portfolio and this gives a high valuation for the start of 2017. The total funds of the 
Trust at December 2016 are £1,297,194. 
 
The major assets of the Trust are the properties which we own and the portfolio of               
investments which the Trust has managed to build up over many years.  There have been no 
additions to the properties but we have incurred costs on their upkeep in order to maintain them 
in a satisfactory condition. Indeed the total costs at our investment property exceeded the rent 
received, despite a rent review during the year.  
At the end of 2015 we received a large legacy and £73,193 which was in the bank account at 
the December 2015. We invested £64,118 early in 2016 into our portfolio. Further purchases 
were made during the year when we benefitted from 3 further legacies. In December 2016 we 
received a payment to account of £50,000 against one further legacy and this was still in our 
bank account at December, and has been invested in 2017.  At present the yield on our         
portfolio is 4% and as the income from this portfolio brings in nearly half of our unrestricted     
income for normal activities we hold regular meetings with our investment advisers, Speirs & 
Jeffrey, but we do try not to change the holdings too often as we believe that investments have 
to be made for the long term.   
 

40

Planning Applications Withdrawn 
 16/03479/LBC - Listed Building Consent for internal and external alterations           

including two storey extension to rear of 4 Greenside Place. 
  
Planning Consents Refused 
 15/02815/PPP Planning permission in principle for residential dwellings, open space 

and associated works; New Park School Playing Fields Priory Gardens; 
 Revised Planning Applications - 15/03789/FULL and 16/00049/LBC, 6a Greyfriars 

Gardens, (Installation of Replacement Extraction Flue); and 
 16/03693/FULL - Alterations to boundary wall, formation of vehicular access and hard-

standing and erection of gate at 6 John Street. 
 
Planning Consents Granted 
 16/00044/FULL, Erection of University building (including partial demolition of     

existing) and associated works at the Gatty Marine Labs, Woodburn Place; and 
 16/02698/FULL - Change of use of agricultural land to form extension to caravan park 

to accommodate 43 static pitches for holiday use and associated vehicular access and 
drainage infrastructure at St Andrews Holiday Park, Anstruther Road. 

 
Positive comment was made to Roads Lighting, Transportation and Environmental Services 
Department of Fife Council in connection with their Pre-planning Advice Note and Planning 
Applications for street lighting improvements in the: 
 
 The Links. 
 Golf Place and The Scores (West end of Murray Park). 
 The Scores (East end of Murray Park). 
 North Castle Street and East Scores. 
 
LOOKING FORWARD 
There is relentless pressure for development in St Andrews from local, national and even    
international businesses, the University, The Links Trust and, of course, residential             
developers.  Maintaining a balance between these various interests will be crucial to          
maintaining a vital and inclusive community.  The character and amenity of our historic town 
can so easily and quickly be destroyed by overdevelopment which would place intolerable 
pressure on infrastructure and the provision of vital services.  The recent proposal for a       
replacement Madras on the newly established Green Belt at Pipeland, the proposed major   
redevelopment of the Gatty Laboratory on the East Sands, and the mixed-use development at 
Craigtoun North and St. Andrews West, illustrate the need for a truly rigorous implementation 
of the holistic, master plan approach that integrates issues such as land-use, transport and the 
built and natural environment.  The above also illustrate the crucial importance of meaningful 
consultation between all stakeholders, including above all, St Andrews’ citizens.  
 
As ever, pressure on the Planning Committee is remorseless and, whilst we are fortunate to 
have a good mix of skills, youth and experience on the Committee, the sheer magnitude and 
complexity of large planning applications, ever-changing planning policies and regulations, and 
short consultation deadlines frequently place us at, or beyond, the limit of our volunteers’   
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The following article was the first award winner of the Trust’s Murray Prize for History awarded in 2015. Because of 
space limitations its first two illustrations have been omitted and there have been minor deletions to the text. © 
FOSTER, S.M., BLACKWELL, A. and GOLDBERG, M., 2014. First published in Journal of Victorian Culture, 19(2), pp. 
137–160 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13555502.2014.919079) and reproduced with permission. 

Abstract: The St Andrews Sarcophagus and Norrie's Law hoard are two of the most important surviving Pictish relics 
from early medieval Scotland. The entanglement of their later biographies is also of international significance in its own 
right. Soon after discovery in nineteenth-century Fife, both sets of objects were subject, in 1839, to an exceptionally 
precocious, documented programme of replication through the enlightened auspices of an under-appreciated 
antiquarian, George Buist. This well-evidenced case study highlights how and why replicas, things that are widely 
prevalent in Europe and beyond, are a ‘thick’ and relatively unexplored seam of archaeological material culture that we 
ignore at our peril. These particular replications also offer new insights into the vision, intellectual and practical energies 
of early antiquarian societies, and their web of connections across Britain and Ireland. 

The Legacy of Nineteenth-century Replicas for Object Cultural Biographies: Lessons in Duplication from 1830s 
Fife 

 
Sally M. Foster, Alice Blackwell and Martin Goldberg 

 
Replicas are material culture with a direct dependence on more ancient archaeological things, but they also deserve to be 
treated as things in their own right. As archaeological source material replicas help to complete the biographies of  things; 
they certainly add to our knowledge even if  they might occasionally complicate matters. The majority of  such replicas date 
from the second half  of  the long nineteenth century when large numbers were produced primarily by or for art academies, 
individuals, antiquarian societies, museums, and art galleries. The term replica has multiple meanings, often with pejorative 
overtones or a definition contingent on a perceived reduction in authenticity and value (could even imply deception); we 
use it in the sense of  conscious attempts to make direct and accurate copies (facsimiles). Rather than dismiss replicas, we 
should consider their nature, the circumstances in which they came about, their impact, their changing meanings, and their 
continuing legacy. For this reason, our nineteenth-century case studies begin with initial replication, when replicas had 
great value and were used to disseminate information and stimulate discussion about the objects they replicated. Through 
this intertwining of  original and replica as connected parts of  the biography of  things, we hope to bring about a new 
realization of  the value of  replicas in order to demonstrate their continuing potential as often untapped sources of  
knowledge. 
 The power and value of  reproductions has been identified in many academic disciplines over the last 150 years 
or so, and looking at how visual technologies play their part in making meaning is now also part of  current scholarship.i 
Perhaps surprisingly, then, with the exception of  Jody Joy’s study of  his grandfather’s replica medal — which illustrated 
how meaning transferred from the empty medal box of  his grandfather’s lost original to the replica — replicas as such 
have not yet featured widely in cultural biographical studies of  things.ii By cultural biography, we mean studies that focus 
on a specific object in order to explore its changing meanings and the construction of  those through time: an approach 
that lends itself  to discovering a hundred worlds in a single object as opposed to the world in a hundred objects.iii New 
theoretical perspectives, however, present facsimiles in a refreshingly positive light, in which they help to explore the 
original and to redefine what originality is.  
 Bruno Latour and Adam Lowe successfully challenge some of  the most influential and long-standing views on 
the perception and reception of  copies of  things. In rehabilitating reproductions as originals in their own right, they 
observe that the real phenomenon we must explain is the evolving, composite biography of  the (authentic) original and all 
its (reproduced) originals.iv For our purposes there are two main ways of  exploring such biographies. The first involves 
adopting a vertical axis, mapping what Latour and Lowe describe as object trajectories. Latour and Lowe use the analogy 
of  hydrographers exploring the full extent and catchment of  a river rather than just focussing on the original spring. The 
second entails exploring horizontal axes, the event horizons that identify when trends in the use, or non-use, of  replicas 
becomes visible, and which in turn provides a broader context for assessing and appreciating the significance and meaning 
of  individual objects and their trajectories. 
 Interest in replicated objects is rising. After a sojurn in curatorial purgatory, plaster casts of  sculpture have once 
again attracted varied forms of  scholarly and artistic attention.v That much of  the academic subject matter to date is 
classical is hardly surprising given that this is where the modern interests in obtaining copies first lay. Art historians have 
for some time been interested in replicas of  Irish metalwork material created from the mid nineteenth century and during 
the Celtic Revival, and that facsimile industry is the subject of  a recent, detailed study.vi Now contemporary copies made 
of  early medieval sculptures have also been the subject of  critical inquiry.vii Otherwise, there is no academic overview of  
the production of  replicas of  archaeological material of  any date, although a few case studies exist.viii 
 Here we introduce for the first time what we consider an exceptionally precocious and significant programme of  
replication of  archaeological objects that took place in Fife, Scotland, in 1839. Our simultaneous explorations of  the 
recent biographies of  the Norrie’s Law hoard (the largest surviving hoard of  Pictish metalwork) and the St Andrews 
Sarcophagus (henceforth Sarcophagus; one of  the most accomplished surviving Pictish sculptures) led us to recognize that 
our different histories are well and truly entangled.ix Common to both of  our studies is that we have looked in some detail 
at the fabric of  both the early medieval and nineteenth-century material culture for what this can tell us about the 
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During 2016 income from our other normal operations were running very close to budget.  All 
who attended the Hidden Gardens day in June will have enjoyed the good weather and this has 
the effect of keeping this main fundraising event to the forefront of our fundraising. 
 
Expenditure is closely monitored against budget but extra costs were incurred on               
maintenance of our properties. Our new curator, Nicola Moss, has been successful in          
obtaining grants against costs at the museum, but this is becoming more difficult. Our         
employee costs have again benefitted from the employer national Insurance allowance to small 
business offered by the government. In April we started our contributions to the                   
employee pension funds and our level of contribution will be reviewed regularly.  Apart from a 
contribution to an outside body to assist them with a planning appeal, we have not had to    
employ specialist consultants to assist our planning committee with complex planning        
applications or where we cannot cope with the tight timescales imposed on some appeal dates 
for some applications.  
 
The Trust has been fortunate to receive donations over the last few years which have a        
restriction placed on them regarding where the funds must be spent. The transactions on these 
restricted funds are shown in note 14 with an explanation of the restrictions on each fund. Our 
thanks must go to all the donors for this financial assistance.  The funds held on all these     
restricted funds are treated as part of our total portfolio and bank balances and a pro-rata share 
of the income is allocated to the respective funds. 
 
Our External Examiner for many years, Ian Palfrey of Henderson Black retired in 2015 and the 
Trustees agreed to the appointment of Joanne Paul, also of Henderson Black, as our    External 
Examiner.  Joanne has come in at a time when new regulations regarding the format of the ac-
counts of a charity have been introduced and I am very glad to report that Joanne has given the 
Trust great guidance in ensuring that we comply with the new regulations. 
 
Our Administrator, Annie Birrell, who started in January 2016, continues to serve the Trust 
well. The accounting calendar entails the finalisation of the December and year end reports and 
files in January. There is also the recording of the new subscriptions in January and she has 
applied herself very well during these busy times.     

 
 
 
In the name of the Trustees 
Dr W K D Borthwick 
Chairman 
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During 2016 income from our other normal operations were running very close to budget.  All 
who attended the Hidden Gardens day in June will have enjoyed the good weather and this has 
the effect of keeping this main fundraising event to the forefront of our fundraising. 
 
Expenditure is closely monitored against budget but extra costs were incurred on               
maintenance of our properties. Our new curator, Nicola Moss, has been successful in          
obtaining grants against costs at the museum, but this is becoming more difficult. Our         
employee costs have again benefitted from the employer national Insurance allowance to small 
business offered by the government. In April we started our contributions to the                   
employee pension funds and our level of contribution will be reviewed regularly.  Apart from a 
contribution to an outside body to assist them with a planning appeal, we have not had to    
employ specialist consultants to assist our planning committee with complex planning        
applications or where we cannot cope with the tight timescales imposed on some appeal dates 
for some applications.  
 
The Trust has been fortunate to receive donations over the last few years which have a        
restriction placed on them regarding where the funds must be spent. The transactions on these 
restricted funds are shown in note 14 with an explanation of the restrictions on each fund. Our 
thanks must go to all the donors for this financial assistance.  The funds held on all these     
restricted funds are treated as part of our total portfolio and bank balances and a pro-rata share 
of the income is allocated to the respective funds. 
 
Our External Examiner for many years, Ian Palfrey of Henderson Black retired in 2015 and the 
Trustees agreed to the appointment of Joanne Paul, also of Henderson Black, as our    External 
Examiner.  Joanne has come in at a time when new regulations regarding the format of the ac-
counts of a charity have been introduced and I am very glad to report that Joanne has given the 
Trust great guidance in ensuring that we comply with the new regulations. 
 
Our Administrator, Annie Birrell, who started in January 2016, continues to serve the Trust 
well. The accounting calendar entails the finalisation of the December and year end reports and 
files in January. There is also the recording of the new subscriptions in January and she has 
applied herself very well during these busy times.     

 
 
 
In the name of the Trustees 
Dr W K D Borthwick 
Chairman 
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were invariably the outcome of  donations from individual antiquarians, which was the norm until the end of  the 
nineteenth century. Some but not all of  these antiquarian donations, particularly the inscriptions in which there was such 
an early interest, had first been presented at national and local Society meetings to circulate new findings and promote 
discussion.xxiii This, then, is the context of our Fife case study. 

 
Replication of the St Andrews Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard: birthing partners 
First discovered in 1833 during grave digging at St Andrews Cathedral (and now on display in its museum), the mid- to 
late eighth-century Sarcophagus is a composite monument that survives as a series of  finely carved sandstone panels and 
corner-slabs. Tenons and grooves on their vertical edges indicate these could interlock, traditionally reconstructed in box-
form. Multiple plaster casts were made for display between 1839 and 1853, a few of  which survive in the National 
Museums Scotland (henceforth NMS) and the St Andrews Museum (Figure 1).  
 

 
 

Figure 1. Schematic reconstructions summarizing the form of  (a) the St Andrews Sarcophagus as presently displayed in St 
Andrews Cathedral Museum with (b) the reconstructed Cupar cast, based on the surviving casts and descriptions. Graphic 
by Christina Unwin, copyright S. Foster (incorporating photographs in (a) that are © Historic Environment Scotland and B. Keeling; and in 
(b) © Trustees of  the National Museums of  Scotland). 
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replication story and the integrated cultural biography of  both original and replica. We have married what we can observe 
using critical sets of  eyes with the benefits of  modern scientific technologies/analysis, to inform cultural biography.x Each 
set of  objects has the potential to give useful (and perhaps unexpected) insights into the original. The benefit of  drawing 
our two studies together is that we can evidence a documented programme of  replication involving a tight network of  
people, and trace the subsequent legacy of  this network of  relationships. Juxtaposing the replication of  the St Andrews 
Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard allows us to range from the intricacies of  two closely related case studies out into the 
wider implications of  studying replicas as things in their own right, as well as integrating them into the cultural biographies 
of  the things they replicate.  
 Our focus is replicas of  early medieval things. The Victorian interest in such post-Roman and pre-Romanesque 
material was quite different from the classical and Renaissance material that they and their immediate predecessors copied 
so avidly. By the end of  the long nineteenth century public art galleries and museums throughout the Isles of  Britain and 
Ireland had created large, bespoke displays of  plaster casts for wide public consumption that for the first time included 
what are referred to as Celtic (we would now more accurately if  less evocatively say Insular) sculpture, such as high crosses 
and cross-slabs. The Circulation Department of  the South Kensington Museum/Victoria and Albert Museum (henceforth 
V&A) often provided the necessary fuel; from the 1880s it administered grants to provincial museums that were 
preferentially for ‘reproductions’ (facsimiles), as well as facilitated cast production through practical advice and support. 
Driven by South Kensington’s agenda for teaching art, improving manufactures through technical art, and wider 
educational and social benefits through an appreciation of  high art, the focus of  interest for the regional museums and art 
galleries was the decorative panels of  regular interlace, zoomorphic, spiral and key patterns, designs that readily lent 
themselves to an aesthetic that valued symmetry, the abstract and the organic.xi  
 From the mid nineteenth century these museums were one of  the key expressions of  an emergent nineteenth-
century localism and, in all but England, national identity.xii Substantial collections of  casts of  local early medieval 
sculpture appeared in quick succession in Ireland, Scotland, Wales, and the Isle of  Man at the turn of  the twentieth 
century. This activity was at the very tail end of  around a century in which museums and galleries strove to create and 
exhibit large and representative collections of  casts of  sculptures. The new impetus for the casting of  native sculpture was 
driven from the ground and around the Isles — art identified as Celtic was perfect for creating and celebrating cultural 
resources both common yet distinctive to the countries of  the Isles (reflecting contemporary unionist-nationalist 
tendencies).xiii Developed mostly from scratch, the new collections of  plaster casts are therefore particularly important as 
snapshots in time of  what local things people thought to be important. One of  us (SMF) has used a provinces-up approach 
to explore practices on the ground and reveal the underlying subtleties and significance of  the work of  the Circulation 
Department with provincial museums. This approach was specifically in relation to the courts of  so-called Celtic plaster 
casts created for the 1901 Glasgow International Exhibition and the museums in Dundee in 1904 and Aberdeen in 1905. 
Glasgow aimed to promote Scottish history and archaeology to an international audience and was more antiquarian-driven 
in its selection of  material to display. Despite the explicitly South Kensington agendas of  the Dundee and Aberdeen 
galleries, strong linkages emerge that are explained by specific curatorial practices, the emerging professional museum 
networks and the activities and personal drive of  the type of  officer of  the V&A who is absent from its histories.xiv  
 The tightly defined floruit for the production of  Celtic cast collections coincides with the tail end of  the V&A 
Circulation Department’s dogged advocacy of  reproductions. The reproductions they commonly funded notably also 
included fictile ivories — copies usually of  continental carved ivories — and electrotypes, usually of  metal objects from 
around Europe but which might also include Celtic metalwork. The main catalyst for the initial production of  replicas of  
early medieval material had been the world’s fairs, beginning with the illustrious London Great Exhibition of  1851.xv At 
such fairs replicas of  sculpture and metalwork were required for display areas and, in the case of  jewellery, facsimiles were 
produced for retail in the manufacturing zones of  the fairs.xvi The London exhibition prompted the popularity of  copies 
of  the Irish Tara Brooch and related metalwork, while for the Dublin Industrial Exhibition of  1853 considerable efforts 
went into acquiring suitable plaster casts from around Ireland and Great Britain.xvii By 1856 Celtic Art officially was a 
distinct, international style.xviii To put this into a slightly wider context, for its own collections the V&A (which established 
its Cast Courts in 1873) was not very interested in the material from the Isles at all, let alone early medieval material (it did, 
though, succumb to buying some replicas of  early medieval Irish metalwork); and the British Museum was slow in even 
acknowledging the Anglo-Saxon material.xix However, by the end of  the nineteenth century contemporary observers such 
as Thomas Greenwood, echoing the views of  J. Romilly Allen, called for museums to take an interest in the ‘Christian 
Archaeology for Great Britain’ from its earliest times.xx  
 Some sixty years earlier, in 1839, attitudes to early medieval material were quite different. Collection of classical 
objects had just peaked with a ‘sensational flourish throughout the first three decades of the nineteenth century’, although 
creating replica sculptures was still popular (think of the British Museum’s acquisition of the Parthenon Marbles for their 
artistic merits in 1816, and their subsequent worldwide replication).xxi The explicit interest in ‘ancient memorials of a 
national and medieval character’ that was so obvious from the mid 1840s in the proceedings of  the newly formed Royal 
Archaeological Institute and British Archaeological Association was so often late medieval Gothic, with all its popular 
ideological associations.xxii While interest in the national and medieval was burgeoning, 1839 was exceptionally early days 
for the understanding and appreciation of early medieval material culture, even though this was the period that many 
countries considered the foundation of historical and modern nation-states. Although national and local museums were 
still very few at this time, from the 1840s onwards archaeological material culture including some replicas became a 
component of  a range of  public exhibitions, whether of  Mechanics Institutes, Exhibitions of  Arts, Manufactures and 
Practical Science, or the peripatetic exhibitions of  the newly formed Archaeological Institute and British Archaeological 
Association. New technologies such as electrotyping were just invented. Museums such as the National Museum of  
Antiquities of  Scotland might ultimately acquire large collections of  plaster casts of  early medieval sculpture but these 
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the Sarcophagus, Brewster moved that the St Andrews Society should add a focus on the study and preservation of  St 
Andrews antiquities to its activities. 
 Revisiting the biography of the Sarcophagus as part of a wider initiative looking at how replicas multiply the lives 
of early medieval sculpture led to the realization that previous analysis had under-estimated the complexity and 
international nature of the story.xxx New detective work maps the trajectory of the Sarcophagus to identify what replicas 
were produced (from what, how and when), and what still survives. It discusses the immediate circumstances of 
production and to a degree circulation, but leaves the bigger context for here. Figure 3 summarizes key elements of the 
story.xxxi 
 

 
 

Figure 3. A summary biography of  the St Andrews Sarcophagus. Graphic by Christina Unwin, copyright S. Foster (incorporating 
images that are © B. Keeling; S. Foster; © Historic Environment Scotland (Alexander Archer Collection); Trustees of  the National 
Museums of  Scotland and © The University of  Edinburgh (Creative Commons License). 
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 The Norrie’s Law hoard of  silver was discovered in 1819 on land belonging to the Largo Estate.xxiv The vast 
majority of  the hoard was illegally sold as bullion soon after discovery, although the landowner, General Durham, rescued 
the surviving portion of  the material. This portion is preserved in the collections of  the NMS and comprizes 170 objects 
and fragments of  hacksilver (Figure 2). The first published account of  the hoard appeared twenty years after its discovery 
at which time pewter copies of  some objects from the hoard were commissioned. These pewter facsimiles have been 
central to understanding the biographies of  the silver hoard. 
 

 
 
Figure 2. Material attributed to the Norrie’s Law hoard preserved in the collections of  National Museums Scotland. © 
Trustees of  the National Museums Scotland. 
 
 One man, George Buist (see below), was responsible for the earliest published scholarship on the Sarcophagus 
and on Norrie’s Law hoard, as well as the creation in 1839 of  replicas of  both for his local archaeology societies.xxv Both 
societies were founded in east Fife, specifically the county town of Cupar and small university burgh of St Andrews, just 
15 km away. This flurry of  activity took place during the short period when Buist was based in Cupar as the editor of  the 
Fifeshire Journal (1837–39).  
 In Cupar, a group of gentlemen founded the Fifeshire Literary, Scientific and Philosophical Society (henceforth 
the Fifeshire Society) in late 1837. Within six months a group of leading intellectuals and other leading figures in St 
Andrews society founded the St Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society (henceforth the St Andrews Society). Primary 
archival sources survive for these societies in the Cupar Library and St Andrews University Library Special Collections, 
and contemporary newspapers provide additional detail.  
 These societies were at the vanguard of the nineteenth-century establishment of county and local societies 
throughout Britain; it is only in Scotland that a few predate 1830.xxvi Comparison with related societies shows both 
Fifeshire and St Andrews to be typical of Victorian societies in having broad and catholic interests, in scientific progress in 
general matched by strong local interests and loyalties, as well as national sentiments. Each quickly founded a museum 
promoting, among other things, a sense of corporate duty and shared access. Such museums were a source of pride: 
hallmarks of the success of a society and its locality. Society memberships tend to be very middle-class (and more high-
brow in the case of the St Andrews Society), but tradesmen did become involved as well as visit the museums, in Cupar at 
least, to judge from the album that visitors signed. Networks were an important aspect of the societies, whether among the 
local landed classes or wider academic community. The societies often promoted this through conferring honorary 
memberships, in the case of the St Andrews Society to leading scientists of the day with whom its members actively 
engaged, such as Charles Darwin, John Lubbock and Henry Fox Talbot. To quote Robert Crawford in his history of the St 
Andrews Society, it was ‘superlatively “networked”’.xxvii Our impression is that the Fifeshire and St Andrews Societies had 
relatively few members in common, but Buist was a visible exception. Not only did he assiduously make active 
contributions to each, but he also sought to involve both Societies in a joint Fife-wide meteorological project. We see his 
hand behind snippets in the newspaper trying to promote a healthy competition but ‘cordial discourse’ between them: ‘far 
from becoming rivals […] each may arouse in the other a feeling of  amiable emulation, which may confer additional 
energies on the operations of  both’.xxviii While the Fifeshire Society is admittedly now obscure, the St Andrews Society is 
not because through its founder and Vice-President Sir David Brewster its members were actively involved in the 
introduction of  photography to Scotland, immediately after its discovery early in 1839.xxix An example of  the diversity of  
the St Andrews Society’s interest and practices is when, prompted by a talk from Buist in June 1838 about the discovery of  
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Figure 5. Pewter facsimiles of  objects from the Norrie’s Law hoard, commissioned by George Buist in 1839 and 
preserved in the collections of  St Andrew’s Museum. © Trustees of  the National Museums Scotland. 
 
 
 Overall, the sources demonstrate an enormous fluidity about which of  the two societies received Buist’s (and 
thence Durham’s) academic and practical favours. There are also some internal contradictions in the sources, possibly 
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Sarcophagus casts and the other the Norrie’s Law hoard replicas.xxxv  
 A key conclusion is that the Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law replicas are highly precocious in the context of the 
antiquarian production of replicas of archaeological objects that were not classical or Renaissance sculptures (see above), 
or thought to be classical objects.xxxvi The associated documentation is a rarity, and these and other sources, notably 
reports on the activities of the societies in contemporary newspapers, suggest that Buist, even for the very brief span of his 
antiquarian activities in Scotland, deserves more credit for his foray into the study of Scottish early medieval material 
culture.xxxvii  
 
Expiscating the replicas 
Expiscation, the process of finding out by skill or laborious labour, encapsulates what Buist saw as the overall purpose of 
the replicas. A description in the local newspaper that we can confidently attribute to him is telling of  his attitude to 
fidelity, although from the surviving casts we know that the full reconstruction involved many compromizes (see Figure 1):  

MAGNIFICENT SARCOPHAGUS. — […] Now stands the sarcophagus, or at least there stands its plaster 
image, a fac-simile of the original, complete in all its parts, even to the colour of the blocks — a splendid resting-
place for some of the mighty of Scotland’s earlier days […] The undiscovered portions have been very 
judiciously supplied by the Cupar Society, causing duplicates to be cast of those which are entire; not that there 
is the slightest reason to believe that any two portions of the stone were alike, where variety was so much 
courted, but that this completes and exhibits at once the form and size of the sarcophagus, without the slightest 
tendency to mislead — the fact being noted on the descriptive ticket — as a conjectural restoration would have 
been sure to have done […] The artist (Mr Ross of Cupar) who has executed the cast, deserves the highest credit 
for the fidelity and beauty of the execution.xxxviii  

When it came to the Norrie’s Law hoard, Buist recognized that the circumstances surrounding its discovery and the nature 
and quantity of  the missing portion might soon be lost, ‘perishing altogether by the deaths of  the individuals by whom it 
has been orally communicated’.xxxix This anxiety informed the dissemination of  his researches, showing an awareness of  
the power of  both academic publication and the creation of  facsimiles of  objects from the hoard. He intended his report, 

when put in a form fit for public dissemination, [to be] be the means of  expiscating other facts or occasioning 
the recovery of  other fragments of  these extraordinary relics; both of  which, I have every reason to believe, are 
still accessible, did we know where to inquire for them. With the same objects in view, I have, by permission of  
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 In 1839, Buist arranged for a local plasterer to produce plaster casts of  the Sarcophagus, to form a key element 
of  the Fifeshire Society’s newly enlarged and expanded museum. As its lead curator, he wrote to the St Andrews Society to 
borrow the early medieval original, which they owned:  

There is no modeller or moulder in St Andrews; — but were the slabs removed for a few weeks to Cupar where 
abundant in-door accomodation [sic] can be provided for these & for those who may be engaged in copying 
them models in clay or casts in plaster could easily be procured & multiplied ad libetum [sic] without damage to 
the sculptures […] by which means a step will have been taken for the expiscation of  information in reference to 
one of  the distant and least known branches of  Archaeology.xxxii 

 

 
 

Figure 4. A summary biography of  the Norrie’s Law hoard. © Trustees of  the National Museums Scotland. 
 
 

 Figure 4 summarizes the key events in the biography of the Norrie’s Law hoard. The discovery of  the hoard in 
1819, the illegal sale, and the consequent loss of  the vast majority of  the silver, followed the subsequent rescue of  a 
portion of  the material by landowner General Durham were not publicly known until Buist’s involvement in 1839. Buist 
had been pursuing an interest that primarily focussed on early medieval sculptured stones. It was during this research, and 
perhaps when visiting the Largo stone in Durham’s garden, that his attention was drawn to ‘some fragments of  silver 
armour’ in the possession of  Durham. Buist’s interest was sparked by recognition that one of  the pieces of  the Norrie’s 
Law hoard ‘was marked with a symbol characteristic of  the cross-stones, and to be found, so far as I am aware, on no 
ancient relics besides’.xxxiii This discovery led him to persuade Durham to allow the making of  pewter copies of  key parts 
of  the Norrie’s Law hoard for both of  the societies. The preface to Buist’s publication about Norrie’s Law names Robert 
Robertson as one of  the silversmiths who purchased part of  the hoard for bullion and cites him as his source of  
information concerning the contents of  the lost silver and the original size of  the hoard when found. An entry in the St 
Andrews Society’s accounts for 11 December 1839 for £1 demonstrates that Robertson was also the silversmith 
commissioned by Buist to make the facsimiles of  objects within the hoard (see Figure 5).xxxiv  
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Figure 5. Pewter facsimiles of  objects from the Norrie’s Law hoard, commissioned by George Buist in 1839 and 
preserved in the collections of  St Andrew’s Museum. © Trustees of  the National Museums Scotland. 
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 Sources are slight for Buist’s earlier cherished side-line as a Scottish antiquarian. They comprize two published 
articles, a number of letters to the St Andrews Society that survive in the Special Collections of St Andrews University, 
extended notices of lectures that he delivered to the St Andrews and the Fifeshire Societies on 4 June 1838 and 6 
November 1839 published in local papers and surely drafted by him, the anonymous account of the Sarcophagus 
published in the Fife Herald (see above), and his 1846 Memoir.xlviii From the latter we learn that he spent a considerable part 
of 1838 ‘chiefly employed in historical and antiquarian research’ in the British Library and the libraries of Dublin.xlix Buist 
was probably also the author of the more detailed accounts of Society business reported in his newspaper, as well, 
possibly, as in the Fife Herald.l 
 So, as a professional editor, Buist was adept in developing ways of  communicating to wide audiences, and fully 
recognized the merit of  this: ‘I know few who is possessed of  more varied information of  a practical and scientific kind, 
or more able to communicate it to the public in a popular and pleasuring shape’.li Notably, several other contemporaries of  
the St Andrews Society led the way with popular writing designed to promote public engagement with science.lii 
 The late 1830s heralded what was to become ‘an extraordinary inventive period in experimentation with new 
visual technologies’.liii St Andrews led the way in terms of  photography, but we might also argue (in tandem with Cupar) in 
replication of  non-classical archaeological objects for public display. Such innovations were a highly visible way in which 
societies could ‘compete’ and reinforce their social value. Might the two pioneering initiatives in visual technologies be in 
some way linked? We have already seen how the meetings and activities of  the St Andrews Society, in particular, provided a 
stage for the key dramatis personae to connect and interact. So did Buist’s work and indeed his personal life — he married 
the daughter of  a St Andrews professor, as did so many other leading members of  the St Andrews Society. John 
Adamson, who became a significant photographer, was the curator of  the St Andrews Society’s museum to whom Buist 
wrote for permission to borrow the Sarcophagus for casting.liv  It is easy to exaggerate potential resonances here, not least 
since the discovery of  photography was only first announced in early 1839 and the replicas were made at the end of  the 
same year, but we can be certain Buist had exposure to this new technology both intellectually and practically. We can infer 
from a letter he wrote from London on the eve of  his departure for Bombay that he planned to experiment with the 
tropical sunlight in producing photographs using a lens, photosensitive paper and a light-tight box (‘camera obscura’), 
which was the height of  photographic practice at this time.lv Records of  any photographers in 1840s India are scarce, and 
the probability is that Buist sadly did not succeed in photographing the Elephanta Caves, for he would surely have sent the 
images to the St Andrews Society as he said he intended to do.lvi 
 
The legacy of the act of replication  
For such an internationally significant monument, it may seem surprising that the only serious recording and study of  the 
Sarcophagus took place in the mid 1990s. This was the point at which the physical legacy of  the casting process on the 
early medieval original — a distinctive coating of  lead white, most obvious on the long panel — was first recognized.lvii 
Subsequently, Historic Scotland has now found further chemical signatures evidencing other aspects of  the replication 
process. As presently conserved, the biography of  the replication process therefore is writ large in the fabric and 
biography of  the early medieval original. This story, with its implications for the meaning of  the original, had been lost 
sight of.lviii The wider issue is that important but unrecognized evidence of  Victorian and later actions may survive on 
other authentic original objects and runs the risk of  being ignored, mislaid, or misinterpreted. In this instance the coating 
was possibly to mask damage or discolouration that resulted from the casting process but, with its final resemblance close 
to more-familiar classical sculpture, the white coating may also be telling of  contemporary expectations for what ‘normal’ 
figural sculpture should look like. We are within a generation of  the arrival of  the Parthenon Marbles in Britain, of  which 
by the mid-1830s Edinburgh’s Trustee Academy already had an extensive cast collection.lix  
 The interpretation of the Norrie’s Law hoard is a cautionary tale indeed since we have recently recognized and 
been able to prove that some of the material thought to be a Pictish original is in fact authentic Victorian. The most 
striking legacy of Buist’s commissioning of pewter facsimiles of parts of the Norrie’s Law hoard was his subsequent 
‘recovery’ of a second and near identical symbol-decorated plaque and handpin. The preface to his 1839 report states that 
this was as a direct result of his enquiries and particularly the production of the facsimiles:  

It must be stated, as an instance of  the importance of  this inquiry, that the symbol-marked plate and bodkin 
(Nos. 4 and 5 in Drawing I) were, in consequence of  it [making pewter replicas], recovered from hands from 
which they might, like so much of  what preceded them, have passed into the crucible of  the silversmith, and 
have been added to the collection of  General Durham, in connection with which they will hereafter be noticed 
without further distinction from the others.lx  

Buist did indeed make no further distinction between the two plaques and pins, and in this has been followed by nearly all 
commentators, antiquarian and academic alike (with the sole exception of R. B. K. Stevenson). But the preface makes clear 
that the second plaque and pin were ‘recovered’ twenty years after the hoard was first discovered, and as a direct and 
positive result of Buist’s programme of replication and publication.  
 However, the implications of Buist’s statement are in fact more profound as further distinction between the two 
plaques and two pins has only recently become apparent during analysis of the surviving Norrie’s Law hoard material.lxi 
This work has demonstrated that the rescued plaque (NMS, x.FC 33) and pin (NMS, x.FC 30) were direct copies of the 
original plaque (NMS, x.FC 34) and pin (NMS, x.FC 31). In addition, the rescued plaque and pin had a silver composition 
that was significantly different to the rest of the hoard: a highly refined silver with very few trace elements that has only 
been available since the nineteenth century. Buist’s specific reference in his engraving to which of the plaques and pins had 
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General Durham, caused fac-simile copies in mixed metal to be made for the collections of  the Scientific 
Societies at Cupar and St Andrews.xl  

What we have from Buist in 1839 is effectively an explicit and considered recognition of  the value of  making replicas for 
purposes of  research, communication, presentation, and interpretation. Buist intended his replicas for community and 
scholarly benefit, in the very early days of  museums designed to meet the needs of  a Victorian public increasingly keen to 
spend their leisure time in educational pursuits. This was also at a time when the production of  replicas of  archaeological 
material (other than classical sculpture) was only just emerging, and then in what seems to be a rather ad hoc manner, 
produced by antiquarians for their individual interests rather than wider public benefits.xli His selection of  material to 
replicate is an index of  what he alone thought to be significant at the time. 
 In the case of  the Norrie’s Law hoard, he urgently wanted more information about the missing silver and the 
circumstances of  its recovery, so replication was a practical solution to a specific and difficult case caused by secrecy 
following initial discovery. In terms of  publication, he was particularly concerned about information ‘only kept in the 
insecure treasury of  oral tradition’.xlii Both Norrie’s Law and Sarcophagus replicas made material that was essentially 
inaccessible (because it was in private hands, or in another town) available to a wider audience, that is the members and 
paying visitors to the museums of  the two Fife societies. Buist never uses the word ‘authentic’ and only used ‘original’ in 
relation to his questions about the monument’s form, but he does demonstrate a concern with the materiality of  the casts. 
He sought exact copies (the literal meaning of  a facsimile), praising Ross for the fidelity of  his replication. His attention to 
detail included that the cast be coloured, but his prime aim was to show people the form and size of  the monument, in 
coffin form as it ‘had originally stood’, something that it was highly difficult to do when looking at its scattered 
fragments.xliii He was not averse to the ‘judicious’ use of  duplicates to make up the whole (a similar approach was adopted 
in the 1970s reconstruction of  St John’s Cross on Iona) and apparently did not realize or did not care that the corner-slabs 
were reversed in Ross’s fabrication of  the long side. Significantly, he was concerned that the cast was labelled clearly to 
indicate that it was a conjectural reconstruction. 
 We also need to consider what part Buist’s personal qualities possibly played, and the significance of  the vibrant, 
intellectual context of  St Andrews in which he was a player.  Buist (1805–1860) was born in Angus, educated in St 
Andrews and Edinburgh, and after a short career as a minister edited newspapers in both Perth and Dundee before 
becoming editor in 1837 of  the Fifeshire Journal.xliv He rapidly dominated Fife literary and scientific circles, just as when he 
later arrived in India in 1840 to edit the Bombay Times.xlv He was by all accounts an extraordinary man of  ability, persuasion, 
considerable energy, and wide-ranging interests. Even at a relatively early stage in his career his contemporaries described 
him as exhibiting ‘unwearied zeal in the cause of  science’, being the Fifeshire Society’s ‘most efficient office-bearer’, 
possessing a ‘zeal […] to communicate information’, and someone who ‘as a man of  science “had not wrapped his talents 
in a napkin”’.xlviAfter 1840 Buist only returned from India twice (on his first visit he was captured in early photography: 
see Figure 6), and he is best known for his professional activities there; antiquities remained a side interest.xlvii  
  

 
 
Figure 6. Dr George Buist photographed during his visit to Scotland in 1845 by Robert Adamson and David Octavius 
Hill. © The University of  Edinburgh (Creative Commons License). 
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manufactured close to 1839.lxxiii Buist was in India by the time they circulated, but it could well have been a part of his 
original plan that further copies were created for retail, perhaps to mitigate the upfront costs to the Fifeshire Society. Or 
did an enterprising Mr Ross recognize their economic potential and market them accordingly? Either way, it is clear that a 
body of replicated plaster casts was created in a very short period from 1839 and that they were purchased for display in 
newly refurbished museums (Newcastle-upon-Tyne, 1848; Edinburgh, 1849) and for an international exhibition (the 
Dublin Industrial Exhibition 1853 where ongoing entanglement of the Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard 
continued).lxxiv  
 
Conclusions  
The St Andrews Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard are two of  the most important surviving Pictish relics from early 
medieval Scotland. The entanglement of  their later biographies is also of  international significance in its own right. This 
well-evidenced case study highlights how replicas, things that are widely prevalent in Europe and beyond, comprise a 
relatively unexplored seam of  archaeological material culture, one that we ignore at our peril. On the one hand, these 
particular replications offer new insights into the vision, intellectual and practical energies of  early antiquarian societies, 
and their web of  connections across Britain and Ireland. Such a horizontal axis of  analysis appreciably expands our 
knowledge of  when and in what pioneering and diverse ways mid nineteenth-century antiquarians created and used 
replicas, and the sorts of  impacts these could have. It is salutary to consider what Buist’s impact would have been on 
British archaeology had he not departed for India. The things that he directly or indirectly caused to be created in 1839 
were different from things that had gone beforehand, or indeed were to follow for many years. They were at the forefront 
of  what became standard antiquarian activities over the following half  century. They were impressive technical 
achievements for their time and, if  not perfect replicas, ones that advanced the standards and expectations of  the time, 
and were perfect enough to be taken at face value. Their production, creation, circulation, and use also have long-term 
implications for the biography of  the early medieval relics and their trajectories (the vertical axis of  analysis). We cited five 
specific examples: the physical legacies for the original; legacies for the interpretation of  the original; the confusion of  
reproductions with originals; the secondary uses of  images of  reproductions as if  the originals; and the extended and 
fissile trajectories of  objects, with their implications for the accuracy of  the multiple reproductions. In the case of  our 
early medieval originals, we saw how the pewter replicas gave us an understanding of  why the two silver copies that Buist 
rescued are compositionally different under XRF analysis from the rest of  the Norrie’s Law hoard. Whether the silver 
copies were intended to be fakes or whether we now consider them as replicas depends on a value judgement. We also saw 
how the Sarcophagus still carries both visible and invisible telling evidence for the replication process, material evidence 
that is now an important, if  undersold, part of  the monument’s biography. In both our cases, misleading images of  these 
replicas, and images based on them, have swept out consciously and unconsciously into the flow of  scholarship that these 
internationally significant relics have generated. 
 We therefore hope through our interlinked case studies to have given some further insight into the value of  
examining Victorian and later replicas and including them in the composite biographies of  things, and of  the sorts of  
intended and unintended consequences of  the intellectual and practical dependences (reliances) and dependencies 
(constraints) such entanglements create.lxxv There are benefits to the understanding of  specific objects, both the early 
medieval originals and their replicas, which are archaeological artefacts in their own right. In considering the replicas we 
have developed an understanding of  the decisions — compromises, deceits and conceits — that were made by various 
parties during the copying process, not least the critical role of  the craftsperson. In the case of  the Norrie’s Law hoard 
these have had very practical consequences, significantly skewing scholarship for 170 years, while we have not been 
sufficiently critical in our observations and interpretations of  the surviving Sarcophagus.  
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been rescued meant we could positively identify the rescued objects with the copied plaque and pin. Buist therefore 
‘recovered’ recently (in 1839) made silver copies of the original plaque and pin from the hoard.  
 The legacy of Buist’s pewter facsimiles, however, lies not just in the recovery of the rescued plaque and pin, but 
also in their creation in the first place. The manufacture of the pewter facsimiles meant that the silversmith Robertson had 
access to the original pieces in Durham’s possession in order to take the necessary impressions and create moulds. These 
moulds could then have been used to produce the silver copies (x.FC 30 & x.FC 33) of the original silver plaque (x.FC 34) 
and pin (x.FC 31). A unique feature, an engraved Pictish z-rod symbol on the back of both the pewter handpin and the 
rescued silver handpin (x.FC 30) (but not found on the silver original — x.FC 31) implicates the jeweller Robertson in the 
making of both the pewter and the silver copies. Robertson had been commissioned by Buist to make pewter facsimiles of 
the original silver plaque (x.FC 34) and pin (x.FC 31) and did so in every detail except for choosing to add a z-rod to the 
back of the pewter pin. Buist’s publication makes it clear that Robertson made the pewter facsimiles before the recovery of 
the silver copies. We know that Robertson added the z-rod to the pewter pin and he must be the prime candidate for then 
adding the z-rod to the back of the silver copy. His reasons for doing this are unclear, but the symbol bears a passing 
resemblance to Robertson’s maker’s mark. The pewter facsimiles are therefore intimately entwined with the biographies of 
the silver material and directly helped inform our interpretation of analytical data that shed serious doubts over the 
authenticity of the copied silver plaque and pin.  
 The carved stones from St Andrews have been interpreted since their discovery in 1833 as coming from a single 
composite monument, a sarcophagus. Buist’s casts, produced within six years of  discovery and before the monument was 
widely known, took its box-like form as a given and actively contributed to the perpetuation of  this interpretation 
wherever they were seen, or their images reproduced.lxii Subsequent interpretations as a shrine still perpetuate the box 
form.lxiii Only now is the single monument, box-like form being challenged,lxiv but the appellation is surely indelible.  
 A less obvious but insidious consequence of  the existence of  the Sarcophagus casts, and their distribution, is the 
frequency with which drawings or photographs of  the casts are used to illustrate the Sarcophagus, even in relatively 
modern scholarship, and this is not always acknowledged.lxv For example, Wilson included different etchings of  the cast of  
the Sarcophagus in his two editions of  The Prehistoric Annals of  Scotland, but does not acknowledge the cast is his source.lxvi 
We are left uncertain whether he, like more recent scholars such as Curle, was actually aware of  the significant differences 
between the early medieval original and the replicas, aspects of  which were more obvious than others (see Figure 1). lxvii 
Antiquity’s 1936 worldwide readership would have been none the wiser. The practical availability and accessibility of  
existing professional images to use (e.g. from the National Museum of  Antiquities of  Scotland) was no doubt a 
consideration. The type of  scholarship (art-historical, with a focus on iconography) may also have meant that the use of  
what is by the standards of  today inaccurate material, with different material qualities, was not an issue so long as the 
motifs were correct. Or perhaps, like in the late nineteenth century, photographs of  casts of  sculpture were simply deemed 
to be better than photographs of  the originals, even if  they were not exact facsimiles. 
 As we have seen with the pewter facsimiles and silver copies of the Norrie’s Law plaque and pin, moulds used to 
create replicas are often reusable within limits, and objects can be repeatedly moulded from; or moulds can even be 
created from the original reproductions rather than the authentic originals. An understanding of such pedigrees of 
production for a given replica matters because: it tells us something about the intrinsic properties of the facsimile (how 
close it is in form to the original); it identifies why and where we can map connections in the object trajectories; and it 
helps to populate the replicas’ contextual and associative significances through an understanding of the people and places 
involved in them. 
 People and institutions had differential access to the originals and replicas of them for purposes of making 
(further) copies. For the owners of the original or moulds, replicas were marketable or exchangeable cultural 
commodities.lxviii The availability of existing moulds for reuse to a certain degree constrained what was produced or 
exchanged, while dependence on others for access to moulds affected what was first created and went into circulation. 
Late nineteenth-century museums actively marketed copies of material, or facilitated their production for others. The 
V&A’s general lack of interest in casting the early medieval sculpture of Britain and Ireland meant it did not have a large 
pool of such material to exchange with the museums of Europe, which in turn has a bearing on how others could 
appreciate the Isles’ native culture. This policy has had a lasting and detrimental impact on the wider art-historical 
appreciation of Pictish art. Foster’s study of the Edwardian collections of Celtic sculptures made for Scottish museums 
illustrates the significances that can emerge from discovering and mapping the intricacies of such networks.lxix  
 Private entrepreneurs were also pro-active: jewellers in the generation after Robertson quickly recognized the 
economic potential of direct, modified, and adapted facsimiles of so-called Celtic jewellery, such as the Tara and 
Hunterston brooches, and their outputs sold successfully to individuals, museums, and fairs, contributing to the Celtic 
Revival style. By the 1860s highly accurate facsimiles of a wider range of metalwork specifically for museums also began to 
be produced.lxx Copies of and impressions from later medieval seals were certainly marketed from a relatively early date, in 
Scotland by Henry Laing.lxxi Often from Italian families, the best-known formatori (plaster workers) worked from major 
cities (Dublin, Edinburgh, London), but a more varied picture is emerging as craftspeople begin to be studied in their own 
right.lxxii  
 In 1830s rural Fifeshire, Buist tasked local craftspeople to make his replicas. While we cannot say if commercial 
interests motivated Robertson to make his silver replicas of parts of the Norrie’s Law hoard, somebody made multiple 
copies of the Sarcophagus and sold these. It seems that Ross’ workshop produced Sarcophagus casts additional to those 
displayed in the museum in Cupar, and these were widely distributed, in Scotland, England, and Ireland between 1848 and 
1853 (see Figure 3). While there are problems in establishing a full and totally coherent narrative, the multiplier effect is 
clear, as is the extensive network of  people and places — indeed sets of  dependences — this must have involved. We do 
not know who sanctioned and organized this, but for reasons outlined in detail elsewhere, the casts may all have been 
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manufactured close to 1839.lxxiii Buist was in India by the time they circulated, but it could well have been a part of his 
original plan that further copies were created for retail, perhaps to mitigate the upfront costs to the Fifeshire Society. Or 
did an enterprising Mr Ross recognize their economic potential and market them accordingly? Either way, it is clear that a 
body of replicated plaster casts was created in a very short period from 1839 and that they were purchased for display in 
newly refurbished museums (Newcastle-upon-Tyne, 1848; Edinburgh, 1849) and for an international exhibition (the 
Dublin Industrial Exhibition 1853 where ongoing entanglement of the Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard 
continued).lxxiv  
 
Conclusions  
The St Andrews Sarcophagus and Norrie’s Law hoard are two of  the most important surviving Pictish relics from early 
medieval Scotland. The entanglement of  their later biographies is also of  international significance in its own right. This 
well-evidenced case study highlights how replicas, things that are widely prevalent in Europe and beyond, comprise a 
relatively unexplored seam of  archaeological material culture, one that we ignore at our peril. On the one hand, these 
particular replications offer new insights into the vision, intellectual and practical energies of  early antiquarian societies, 
and their web of  connections across Britain and Ireland. Such a horizontal axis of  analysis appreciably expands our 
knowledge of  when and in what pioneering and diverse ways mid nineteenth-century antiquarians created and used 
replicas, and the sorts of  impacts these could have. It is salutary to consider what Buist’s impact would have been on 
British archaeology had he not departed for India. The things that he directly or indirectly caused to be created in 1839 
were different from things that had gone beforehand, or indeed were to follow for many years. They were at the forefront 
of  what became standard antiquarian activities over the following half  century. They were impressive technical 
achievements for their time and, if  not perfect replicas, ones that advanced the standards and expectations of  the time, 
and were perfect enough to be taken at face value. Their production, creation, circulation, and use also have long-term 
implications for the biography of  the early medieval relics and their trajectories (the vertical axis of  analysis). We cited five 
specific examples: the physical legacies for the original; legacies for the interpretation of  the original; the confusion of  
reproductions with originals; the secondary uses of  images of  reproductions as if  the originals; and the extended and 
fissile trajectories of  objects, with their implications for the accuracy of  the multiple reproductions. In the case of  our 
early medieval originals, we saw how the pewter replicas gave us an understanding of  why the two silver copies that Buist 
rescued are compositionally different under XRF analysis from the rest of  the Norrie’s Law hoard. Whether the silver 
copies were intended to be fakes or whether we now consider them as replicas depends on a value judgement. We also saw 
how the Sarcophagus still carries both visible and invisible telling evidence for the replication process, material evidence 
that is now an important, if  undersold, part of  the monument’s biography. In both our cases, misleading images of  these 
replicas, and images based on them, have swept out consciously and unconsciously into the flow of  scholarship that these 
internationally significant relics have generated. 
 We therefore hope through our interlinked case studies to have given some further insight into the value of  
examining Victorian and later replicas and including them in the composite biographies of  things, and of  the sorts of  
intended and unintended consequences of  the intellectual and practical dependences (reliances) and dependencies 
(constraints) such entanglements create.lxxv There are benefits to the understanding of  specific objects, both the early 
medieval originals and their replicas, which are archaeological artefacts in their own right. In considering the replicas we 
have developed an understanding of  the decisions — compromises, deceits and conceits — that were made by various 
parties during the copying process, not least the critical role of  the craftsperson. In the case of  the Norrie’s Law hoard 
these have had very practical consequences, significantly skewing scholarship for 170 years, while we have not been 
sufficiently critical in our observations and interpretations of  the surviving Sarcophagus.  
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been rescued meant we could positively identify the rescued objects with the copied plaque and pin. Buist therefore 
‘recovered’ recently (in 1839) made silver copies of the original plaque and pin from the hoard.  
 The legacy of Buist’s pewter facsimiles, however, lies not just in the recovery of the rescued plaque and pin, but 
also in their creation in the first place. The manufacture of the pewter facsimiles meant that the silversmith Robertson had 
access to the original pieces in Durham’s possession in order to take the necessary impressions and create moulds. These 
moulds could then have been used to produce the silver copies (x.FC 30 & x.FC 33) of the original silver plaque (x.FC 34) 
and pin (x.FC 31). A unique feature, an engraved Pictish z-rod symbol on the back of both the pewter handpin and the 
rescued silver handpin (x.FC 30) (but not found on the silver original — x.FC 31) implicates the jeweller Robertson in the 
making of both the pewter and the silver copies. Robertson had been commissioned by Buist to make pewter facsimiles of 
the original silver plaque (x.FC 34) and pin (x.FC 31) and did so in every detail except for choosing to add a z-rod to the 
back of the pewter pin. Buist’s publication makes it clear that Robertson made the pewter facsimiles before the recovery of 
the silver copies. We know that Robertson added the z-rod to the pewter pin and he must be the prime candidate for then 
adding the z-rod to the back of the silver copy. His reasons for doing this are unclear, but the symbol bears a passing 
resemblance to Robertson’s maker’s mark. The pewter facsimiles are therefore intimately entwined with the biographies of 
the silver material and directly helped inform our interpretation of analytical data that shed serious doubts over the 
authenticity of the copied silver plaque and pin.  
 The carved stones from St Andrews have been interpreted since their discovery in 1833 as coming from a single 
composite monument, a sarcophagus. Buist’s casts, produced within six years of  discovery and before the monument was 
widely known, took its box-like form as a given and actively contributed to the perpetuation of  this interpretation 
wherever they were seen, or their images reproduced.lxii Subsequent interpretations as a shrine still perpetuate the box 
form.lxiii Only now is the single monument, box-like form being challenged,lxiv but the appellation is surely indelible.  
 A less obvious but insidious consequence of  the existence of  the Sarcophagus casts, and their distribution, is the 
frequency with which drawings or photographs of  the casts are used to illustrate the Sarcophagus, even in relatively 
modern scholarship, and this is not always acknowledged.lxv For example, Wilson included different etchings of  the cast of  
the Sarcophagus in his two editions of  The Prehistoric Annals of  Scotland, but does not acknowledge the cast is his source.lxvi 
We are left uncertain whether he, like more recent scholars such as Curle, was actually aware of  the significant differences 
between the early medieval original and the replicas, aspects of  which were more obvious than others (see Figure 1). lxvii 
Antiquity’s 1936 worldwide readership would have been none the wiser. The practical availability and accessibility of  
existing professional images to use (e.g. from the National Museum of  Antiquities of  Scotland) was no doubt a 
consideration. The type of  scholarship (art-historical, with a focus on iconography) may also have meant that the use of  
what is by the standards of  today inaccurate material, with different material qualities, was not an issue so long as the 
motifs were correct. Or perhaps, like in the late nineteenth century, photographs of  casts of  sculpture were simply deemed 
to be better than photographs of  the originals, even if  they were not exact facsimiles. 
 As we have seen with the pewter facsimiles and silver copies of the Norrie’s Law plaque and pin, moulds used to 
create replicas are often reusable within limits, and objects can be repeatedly moulded from; or moulds can even be 
created from the original reproductions rather than the authentic originals. An understanding of such pedigrees of 
production for a given replica matters because: it tells us something about the intrinsic properties of the facsimile (how 
close it is in form to the original); it identifies why and where we can map connections in the object trajectories; and it 
helps to populate the replicas’ contextual and associative significances through an understanding of the people and places 
involved in them. 
 People and institutions had differential access to the originals and replicas of them for purposes of making 
(further) copies. For the owners of the original or moulds, replicas were marketable or exchangeable cultural 
commodities.lxviii The availability of existing moulds for reuse to a certain degree constrained what was produced or 
exchanged, while dependence on others for access to moulds affected what was first created and went into circulation. 
Late nineteenth-century museums actively marketed copies of material, or facilitated their production for others. The 
V&A’s general lack of interest in casting the early medieval sculpture of Britain and Ireland meant it did not have a large 
pool of such material to exchange with the museums of Europe, which in turn has a bearing on how others could 
appreciate the Isles’ native culture. This policy has had a lasting and detrimental impact on the wider art-historical 
appreciation of Pictish art. Foster’s study of the Edwardian collections of Celtic sculptures made for Scottish museums 
illustrates the significances that can emerge from discovering and mapping the intricacies of such networks.lxix  
 Private entrepreneurs were also pro-active: jewellers in the generation after Robertson quickly recognized the 
economic potential of direct, modified, and adapted facsimiles of so-called Celtic jewellery, such as the Tara and 
Hunterston brooches, and their outputs sold successfully to individuals, museums, and fairs, contributing to the Celtic 
Revival style. By the 1860s highly accurate facsimiles of a wider range of metalwork specifically for museums also began to 
be produced.lxx Copies of and impressions from later medieval seals were certainly marketed from a relatively early date, in 
Scotland by Henry Laing.lxxi Often from Italian families, the best-known formatori (plaster workers) worked from major 
cities (Dublin, Edinburgh, London), but a more varied picture is emerging as craftspeople begin to be studied in their own 
right.lxxii  
 In 1830s rural Fifeshire, Buist tasked local craftspeople to make his replicas. While we cannot say if commercial 
interests motivated Robertson to make his silver replicas of parts of the Norrie’s Law hoard, somebody made multiple 
copies of the Sarcophagus and sold these. It seems that Ross’ workshop produced Sarcophagus casts additional to those 
displayed in the museum in Cupar, and these were widely distributed, in Scotland, England, and Ireland between 1848 and 
1853 (see Figure 3). While there are problems in establishing a full and totally coherent narrative, the multiplier effect is 
clear, as is the extensive network of  people and places — indeed sets of  dependences — this must have involved. We do 
not know who sanctioned and organized this, but for reasons outlined in detail elsewhere, the casts may all have been 



55

xxiv J. Graham-Campbell, ‘Norrie’s Law, Fife: On the Nature and Dating of the Silver Hoard’, Proceedings of the Society 
of Antiquaries of Scotland, 121 (1991), 241–59. 
xxv G. Buist, Report by Mr George Buist on the Silver Fragments in the Possession of General Durham, Largo, commonly called the 
Silver Armour of Norrie’s Law, to the Fifeshire Literary and Antiquarian Society (Fifeshire Journal Office: Cupar, 1839); G. 
Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument Discovered at St Andrews, in 1833’, Proceedings of the Society of 
Antiquaries of Scotland, 1 (1851–54), 234–37. 
xxvi W. Elliot, ‘Opening Address, 10 November 1870’ and ‘List of Field Clubs, Being a Continuation of the Address 
Delivered December 1870’, Transactions of the Botanical Society, 11 (1873), 1–41, 192–255 (pp. 242–50); D. V. Clarke, 
‘Scottish Archaeology in the Second Half of the Nineteenth Century’, in The Scottish Antiquarian Tradition. Essays to 
Mark the Bicentenary of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland and its Museum, 1780–1980, ed. by A. S. Bell (Edinburgh: John 
Donald, 1981), pp. 114–41; P. Levine, The Amateur and the Professional. Antiquarians, Historians and Archaeologists in 
Victorian England, 1838–1886 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986); D. A. Finnegan, Natural History 
Societies and Civic Culture in Victorian Scotland (London: Pickering and Chatto, 2009). 
xxvii R. Crawford, The Beginning and the End of the World. St Andrews, Scandal, and the Birth of Photography (Edinburgh: 
Birlinn, 2011), p. 65. Buist only receives a mention here on p. 67 in the context of geological specimens he proposed 
sending from India in 1842. 
xxviii Fifeshire Journal, 13 February 1840, p. 2. 
xxix Crawford, The Beginning and the End, especially ch. 3. 
xxx S. M. Foster, ‘Discovery, recovery, context and display’, in The St. Andrews Sarcophagus: A Pictish Masterpiece and its 
International Connections, ed. by S. M. Foster (Dublin: Four Courts Press, 1998), pp. 35–62. 
xxxi For detail see S. M. Foster forthcoming, ‘‘Expiscation! Disentangling the Later Biography of the St Andrews 
Sarcophagus’, in Ancient Lives: Object, People and Place in Early Scotland. Essays for David V Clarke on his 70th Birthday, ed. 
by F. Hunter and A. Sheridan (Leiden: Sidestone Press, 2016), pp. 165–86. 
xxxii 'Memorial of the Committee of Management of the Fifeshire Literary Scientific & Antiquarian Society to the 
Council of the St Andrews Literary & Scientific Association', Unpublished Manuscript, Undated (probably late 
September 1839), Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/1/21(a). This document is signed by an 
unknown figure and George Buist. 
xxxiii Buist, Report, preface. 
xxxiv ‘Treasurers Account Book for Literary & Philosophical Society’, Muniments of the University of St Andrews 
UY8527/1. 
xxxv Fifeshire Journal, 15 August 1838; 15 August, 1 October, 4 and 6 November 1839; 4 February 1840; Muniments of 
the University of St Andrews UY8525/1, Records of the St Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society April 1838 
to 13 April 1861 (1838–1861), f. 37. 
xxxvi Cf. Curtis, ‘"The Original May Yet Be Discovered"’. 
xxxvii See further discussion of Buist’s contribution to the study of Scottish early medieval archaeology in National 
Museum Scotland’s future work on Pictish silver.  
xxxviii Fife Herald, 19 December 1839, p. 3. 
xxxix Buist, Report, preface. 
xl Buist, Report, preface. 
xli Anonymous, ‘Appendix, List II. List of  Donations Presented to the Society, from 1784 to 1830’, Archaeologia Scotica 
3 (1831), 31–148; and Anonymous, ‘Appendix. List of  Donations Presented to the Society of  Antiquaries of  
Scotland, MDCCCXXX–MDCCCLI [1830–51]’, Archaeologia Scotica 5 (1890), 1–79. These articles provide the best 
gauge of  early replica activity in Scotland. 
xlii Buist, Report, p. 4. 
xliii Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument’, p. 234. 
xliv Published sources are contradictory about when he was born, and his own published Memoir incorrectly says 1803 
(although 1805 can be inferred because it states he was 12 when he went to St Andrews University in 1817): G. 
Buist, Memoir, with Testimonials, &c. of George Buist, LL.D. Fellow of the Royal Society, London; Fellow of the Royal Society, 
Edinburgh; Fellow of the Geological Society; Member of the Royal Geographical Society, London; of the Royal Asiatic Society; of the 
Wernerian Society, Edinburgh; of the Society of Scottish Antiquaries, etc.; of the Royal Society of Arts; of the Bombay Branch of the 
Royal Asiatic Society; Secretary to the Geographical Society Bombay; Secretary to the Agri-Horticultural Society of Western India; 
Honorary Member of the Egyptian Literary Institution; Honorary Member of the St Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society; of the 
Fifeshire Literary, Scientific, and Antiquarian Association, etc. etc. Addressed to his Friends (Cupar: G. S. Tullis, 1846). His 
gravestone in Kolkata corroborates this, stating he died 1 Oct 1860, aged 54 10m 5d (‘India, Kolkata, Karaya Road, 
Scottish Cemetery’, in <www.canmore.rcahms.gov.uk> [accessed 3 August 2012]).   
xlv A. J. Campbell, Cupar. The Years of Controversy. 1822–1872. Its Newspaper Press (Dunfermline: Fife Family History 
Society, 2009), pp. 42–45; K. Prior, ‘Buist, George (1804–1860)’, Oxford Dictionary of National Biography (Oxford: 
Oxford University Press, 2004), www.oxforddnb.com/view/article/3892 [accessed 25 September 2012]. 
xlvi Fife Herald, 14 November 1839, p. 3; Fifeshire Journal, 12 December 1838, p. 2.  

54

iii See for example J. Hoskins, ‘Agency, Biography and Objects’, in Handbook of Material Culture, ed. by C. Tilley, W. 
Keane, S. Küchler, M. Rowlands and P. Spyer (London: Sage), pp. 74–84. An example of such an approach is H. 
James, I. Henderson, S. Foster and S. Jones, A Fragmented Masterpiece: Recovering the Biography of the Hilton of Cadboll 
Pictish Cross-slab (Edinburgh: Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, 2008), ch. 6; this is an interdisciplinary study that 
explores the complex biography of a major Pictish cross-slab from its creation 1,200 years ago in northern Scotland 
to modern icon in the National Museum of Scotland. 
iv B. Latour and A. Lowe, ‘The Migration of the Aura, or How to Explore the Original through its Facsimiles’, in 
Switching Codes. Thinking through Digital Technology in the Humanities and the Arts, ed. by T. Bartscherer and R. Coover 
(Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 2011), pp. 275–97. 
v M. F. Nichols, ‘Museum Material? An Institution-based Critique of the Historiography of Plaster Cast Sculpture’, 
in Material Worlds. Proceedings of the Conference held at Glasgow University, 2005, ed. by R. Moffat and E. de Klerk 
(Newcastle: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2007), pp. 26–39; Plaster Casts: Making, Collecting, and Displaying from 
Classical Antiquity to the Present, ed. by R. Frederiksen and E. Marchand (Berlin: De Gruyter, 2010); Edinburgh 
College of Art, Cast Contemporaries (Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Arts and Social Sciences Academic Press, 2012). 
vi Imagining an Irish Past. The Celtic Revival 1840–1940, ed. by T. J. Edelstein (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 
1992); T. Kelly, ‘Commerce and the Celtic Revival: The History of the Irish Facsimile Industry, 1840–1940’ 
(unpublished doctoral thesis, Trinity College Dublin, 2013). 
vii E. L. McCormick, ‘Crosses in Circulation: Processes and Patterns of Acquisition and Display of Early Medieval 
Sculpture in the National Museums of Britain and Ireland, circa 1850 to 1950’ (unpublished doctoral thesis, 
University of York, 2010); E. L. McCormick, ‘"The Highly Interesting Series of Irish crosses": Reproductions of 
Early Medieval Irish Sculpture in Dublin and Sydenham’, in Making Histories. Proceedings of the Sixth International Insular 
Arts Conference, York 2011, ed. by J. Hawkes (Donington: Shaun Tyas, 2013), pp. 358–71; S. M. Foster, ‘Embodied 
Energies, Embedded Stories: Releasing the Potential of Casts of Early Medieval Sculptures’, in Making Histories, ed. 
by Hawkes, pp. 339–55. 
viii Such as N. Curtis, ‘"The Original May Yet Be Discovered": Seven Bronze Age Swords Supposedly from 
Netherley, Kincardineshire’, Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland (henceforth PSAS), 137 (2007), 487–500. 
ix ‘Pict’ is the name generally applied to the native people living in eastern and northern Scotland from about AD 
300–900. 
x The sort of approach advocated in A. Jones, ‘Archaeometry and Materiality: Materials-based Analysis in Theory 
and Practice’, Archaeometry, 3 (2004), 327–38. 
xi Cf. L. Kriegel, Grand Designs. Labor, Empire, and the Museum in Victorian Culture (Durham & London: Duke 
University Press), esp. pp. 127–130, 138–140. 
xii See e.g. A. MacGregor, ‘Antiquity Inventoried: Museums and "National Antiquities" in the Mid Nineteenth 
Century’, in The Study of the Past in the Victorian Age, ed. by V. Brand (Oxford: Oxbow, 1998), pp. 125–37. 
xiii Cf. J. Morrison, Painting the Nation. Identity and Nationalism in Scottish Painting, 1800–1920 (Edinburgh: Edinburgh 
University Press, 2003), ch. 7. 
xiv S. M. Foster, ‘Circulating Agency: The V&A, Scotland and the Multiplication of "Celtic Crosses"‘, Journal of the 
History of Collections 27:1 (2015)), 73–96. 
xv Accurate two-dimensional representations of Celtic art in general appeared from the beginning of the nineteenth 
century: M. Macdonald, ‘The Visual Preconditions of Celtic Revival art in Scotland, Journal of the Scottish Society for Art 
History, 13 (2008–09), 16–21. 
xvi Edelstein, Imagining an Irish Past; McCormick, 'The Highly Interesting Series'; B. Effros, Uncovering the Germanic Past. 
Merovingian Archaeology in France, 1830–1914 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012); T. Kelly, ‘“Specimens of 
Modern Antique”: Commercial Facsimiles of Irish Archaeological Jewellery, 1840–1868’, in The Modern History of 
Celtic Jewellery 1840–1980, ed. by S. Walker (Andover, New York: Walker Metalsmiths, 2013), pp. 23–33. 
xvii R. Ó Floinn, 'Reproducing the Past: Making Replicas of Irish Antiquities', in A Carnival of Learning. Essays to 
Honour George Cunningham and his 50 Conferences on Medieval Ireland in the Cistercian Abbey of Mount St. Joseph, Roscrea, 
1987–2012, ed. by P. Harbison and V. Hall (Roscrea: Cistercian Press, 2012), pp. 146–57. 
xviii Macdonald, ‘The Visual Preconditions’, p. 19. 
xix MacGregor, ‘Antiquity Inventoried’, pp. 127–36. 
xx T. Greenwood, Museums and Art Galleries (London: Simpkin, Marshall and Co., 1888), pp. 222–23; J. R. Allen, ‘A 
Museum for Christian Archaeology for Great Britain’, Archaeological Review, 1 (1888), 191–96. 
xxi F. Herrmann, The English as Collectors: a Documentary Chrestomathy Selected, Introduced and Annotated by Frank Herrmann 
(London: Chatto & Windus, 1972), pp. 14–15.; C. Whitehead, Museums and the Construction of Disciplines. Art and 
Archaeology in Nineteenth-Century Britain (London: Duckworth, 2009), pp. 82–93. 
xxii A. Way, ‘Introduction. March 1844’, Archaeological Journal, 1 (1845), 2–3; D. Westerhall, ‘The Growth of 
Archaeological Societies’, in Study of the Past, ed. by Brand, pp. 28–31. 
xxiii See for example C. Evans, ‘" Delineating Objects": Nineteenth Century Antiquarian Culture and the Project of 
Archaeology’, in Visions on Antiquity: The Society of Antiquaries of London 1907–2007, ed. by S. Pearce (London: Society 
of Antiquaries of London, 2007), pp. 266–305. 



55

xxiv J. Graham-Campbell, ‘Norrie’s Law, Fife: On the Nature and Dating of the Silver Hoard’, Proceedings of the Society 
of Antiquaries of Scotland, 121 (1991), 241–59. 
xxv G. Buist, Report by Mr George Buist on the Silver Fragments in the Possession of General Durham, Largo, commonly called the 
Silver Armour of Norrie’s Law, to the Fifeshire Literary and Antiquarian Society (Fifeshire Journal Office: Cupar, 1839); G. 
Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument Discovered at St Andrews, in 1833’, Proceedings of the Society of 
Antiquaries of Scotland, 1 (1851–54), 234–37. 
xxvi W. Elliot, ‘Opening Address, 10 November 1870’ and ‘List of Field Clubs, Being a Continuation of the Address 
Delivered December 1870’, Transactions of the Botanical Society, 11 (1873), 1–41, 192–255 (pp. 242–50); D. V. Clarke, 
‘Scottish Archaeology in the Second Half of the Nineteenth Century’, in The Scottish Antiquarian Tradition. Essays to 
Mark the Bicentenary of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland and its Museum, 1780–1980, ed. by A. S. Bell (Edinburgh: John 
Donald, 1981), pp. 114–41; P. Levine, The Amateur and the Professional. Antiquarians, Historians and Archaeologists in 
Victorian England, 1838–1886 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986); D. A. Finnegan, Natural History 
Societies and Civic Culture in Victorian Scotland (London: Pickering and Chatto, 2009). 
xxvii R. Crawford, The Beginning and the End of the World. St Andrews, Scandal, and the Birth of Photography (Edinburgh: 
Birlinn, 2011), p. 65. Buist only receives a mention here on p. 67 in the context of geological specimens he proposed 
sending from India in 1842. 
xxviii Fifeshire Journal, 13 February 1840, p. 2. 
xxix Crawford, The Beginning and the End, especially ch. 3. 
xxx S. M. Foster, ‘Discovery, recovery, context and display’, in The St. Andrews Sarcophagus: A Pictish Masterpiece and its 
International Connections, ed. by S. M. Foster (Dublin: Four Courts Press, 1998), pp. 35–62. 
xxxi For detail see S. M. Foster forthcoming, ‘‘Expiscation! Disentangling the Later Biography of the St Andrews 
Sarcophagus’, in Ancient Lives: Object, People and Place in Early Scotland. Essays for David V Clarke on his 70th Birthday, ed. 
by F. Hunter and A. Sheridan (Leiden: Sidestone Press, 2016), pp. 165–86. 
xxxii 'Memorial of the Committee of Management of the Fifeshire Literary Scientific & Antiquarian Society to the 
Council of the St Andrews Literary & Scientific Association', Unpublished Manuscript, Undated (probably late 
September 1839), Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/1/21(a). This document is signed by an 
unknown figure and George Buist. 
xxxiii Buist, Report, preface. 
xxxiv ‘Treasurers Account Book for Literary & Philosophical Society’, Muniments of the University of St Andrews 
UY8527/1. 
xxxv Fifeshire Journal, 15 August 1838; 15 August, 1 October, 4 and 6 November 1839; 4 February 1840; Muniments of 
the University of St Andrews UY8525/1, Records of the St Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society April 1838 
to 13 April 1861 (1838–1861), f. 37. 
xxxvi Cf. Curtis, ‘"The Original May Yet Be Discovered"’. 
xxxvii See further discussion of Buist’s contribution to the study of Scottish early medieval archaeology in National 
Museum Scotland’s future work on Pictish silver.  
xxxviii Fife Herald, 19 December 1839, p. 3. 
xxxix Buist, Report, preface. 
xl Buist, Report, preface. 
xli Anonymous, ‘Appendix, List II. List of  Donations Presented to the Society, from 1784 to 1830’, Archaeologia Scotica 
3 (1831), 31–148; and Anonymous, ‘Appendix. List of  Donations Presented to the Society of  Antiquaries of  
Scotland, MDCCCXXX–MDCCCLI [1830–51]’, Archaeologia Scotica 5 (1890), 1–79. These articles provide the best 
gauge of  early replica activity in Scotland. 
xlii Buist, Report, p. 4. 
xliii Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument’, p. 234. 
xliv Published sources are contradictory about when he was born, and his own published Memoir incorrectly says 1803 
(although 1805 can be inferred because it states he was 12 when he went to St Andrews University in 1817): G. 
Buist, Memoir, with Testimonials, &c. of George Buist, LL.D. Fellow of the Royal Society, London; Fellow of the Royal Society, 
Edinburgh; Fellow of the Geological Society; Member of the Royal Geographical Society, London; of the Royal Asiatic Society; of the 
Wernerian Society, Edinburgh; of the Society of Scottish Antiquaries, etc.; of the Royal Society of Arts; of the Bombay Branch of the 
Royal Asiatic Society; Secretary to the Geographical Society Bombay; Secretary to the Agri-Horticultural Society of Western India; 
Honorary Member of the Egyptian Literary Institution; Honorary Member of the St Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society; of the 
Fifeshire Literary, Scientific, and Antiquarian Association, etc. etc. Addressed to his Friends (Cupar: G. S. Tullis, 1846). His 
gravestone in Kolkata corroborates this, stating he died 1 Oct 1860, aged 54 10m 5d (‘India, Kolkata, Karaya Road, 
Scottish Cemetery’, in <www.canmore.rcahms.gov.uk> [accessed 3 August 2012]).   
xlv A. J. Campbell, Cupar. The Years of Controversy. 1822–1872. Its Newspaper Press (Dunfermline: Fife Family History 
Society, 2009), pp. 42–45; K. Prior, ‘Buist, George (1804–1860)’, Oxford Dictionary of National Biography (Oxford: 
Oxford University Press, 2004), www.oxforddnb.com/view/article/3892 [accessed 25 September 2012]. 
xlvi Fife Herald, 14 November 1839, p. 3; Fifeshire Journal, 12 December 1838, p. 2.  

54

iii See for example J. Hoskins, ‘Agency, Biography and Objects’, in Handbook of Material Culture, ed. by C. Tilley, W. 
Keane, S. Küchler, M. Rowlands and P. Spyer (London: Sage), pp. 74–84. An example of such an approach is H. 
James, I. Henderson, S. Foster and S. Jones, A Fragmented Masterpiece: Recovering the Biography of the Hilton of Cadboll 
Pictish Cross-slab (Edinburgh: Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, 2008), ch. 6; this is an interdisciplinary study that 
explores the complex biography of a major Pictish cross-slab from its creation 1,200 years ago in northern Scotland 
to modern icon in the National Museum of Scotland. 
iv B. Latour and A. Lowe, ‘The Migration of the Aura, or How to Explore the Original through its Facsimiles’, in 
Switching Codes. Thinking through Digital Technology in the Humanities and the Arts, ed. by T. Bartscherer and R. Coover 
(Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 2011), pp. 275–97. 
v M. F. Nichols, ‘Museum Material? An Institution-based Critique of the Historiography of Plaster Cast Sculpture’, 
in Material Worlds. Proceedings of the Conference held at Glasgow University, 2005, ed. by R. Moffat and E. de Klerk 
(Newcastle: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2007), pp. 26–39; Plaster Casts: Making, Collecting, and Displaying from 
Classical Antiquity to the Present, ed. by R. Frederiksen and E. Marchand (Berlin: De Gruyter, 2010); Edinburgh 
College of Art, Cast Contemporaries (Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Arts and Social Sciences Academic Press, 2012). 
vi Imagining an Irish Past. The Celtic Revival 1840–1940, ed. by T. J. Edelstein (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 
1992); T. Kelly, ‘Commerce and the Celtic Revival: The History of the Irish Facsimile Industry, 1840–1940’ 
(unpublished doctoral thesis, Trinity College Dublin, 2013). 
vii E. L. McCormick, ‘Crosses in Circulation: Processes and Patterns of Acquisition and Display of Early Medieval 
Sculpture in the National Museums of Britain and Ireland, circa 1850 to 1950’ (unpublished doctoral thesis, 
University of York, 2010); E. L. McCormick, ‘"The Highly Interesting Series of Irish crosses": Reproductions of 
Early Medieval Irish Sculpture in Dublin and Sydenham’, in Making Histories. Proceedings of the Sixth International Insular 
Arts Conference, York 2011, ed. by J. Hawkes (Donington: Shaun Tyas, 2013), pp. 358–71; S. M. Foster, ‘Embodied 
Energies, Embedded Stories: Releasing the Potential of Casts of Early Medieval Sculptures’, in Making Histories, ed. 
by Hawkes, pp. 339–55. 
viii Such as N. Curtis, ‘"The Original May Yet Be Discovered": Seven Bronze Age Swords Supposedly from 
Netherley, Kincardineshire’, Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland (henceforth PSAS), 137 (2007), 487–500. 
ix ‘Pict’ is the name generally applied to the native people living in eastern and northern Scotland from about AD 
300–900. 
x The sort of approach advocated in A. Jones, ‘Archaeometry and Materiality: Materials-based Analysis in Theory 
and Practice’, Archaeometry, 3 (2004), 327–38. 
xi Cf. L. Kriegel, Grand Designs. Labor, Empire, and the Museum in Victorian Culture (Durham & London: Duke 
University Press), esp. pp. 127–130, 138–140. 
xii See e.g. A. MacGregor, ‘Antiquity Inventoried: Museums and "National Antiquities" in the Mid Nineteenth 
Century’, in The Study of the Past in the Victorian Age, ed. by V. Brand (Oxford: Oxbow, 1998), pp. 125–37. 
xiii Cf. J. Morrison, Painting the Nation. Identity and Nationalism in Scottish Painting, 1800–1920 (Edinburgh: Edinburgh 
University Press, 2003), ch. 7. 
xiv S. M. Foster, ‘Circulating Agency: The V&A, Scotland and the Multiplication of "Celtic Crosses"‘, Journal of the 
History of Collections 27:1 (2015)), 73–96. 
xv Accurate two-dimensional representations of Celtic art in general appeared from the beginning of the nineteenth 
century: M. Macdonald, ‘The Visual Preconditions of Celtic Revival art in Scotland, Journal of the Scottish Society for Art 
History, 13 (2008–09), 16–21. 
xvi Edelstein, Imagining an Irish Past; McCormick, 'The Highly Interesting Series'; B. Effros, Uncovering the Germanic Past. 
Merovingian Archaeology in France, 1830–1914 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012); T. Kelly, ‘“Specimens of 
Modern Antique”: Commercial Facsimiles of Irish Archaeological Jewellery, 1840–1868’, in The Modern History of 
Celtic Jewellery 1840–1980, ed. by S. Walker (Andover, New York: Walker Metalsmiths, 2013), pp. 23–33. 
xvii R. Ó Floinn, 'Reproducing the Past: Making Replicas of Irish Antiquities', in A Carnival of Learning. Essays to 
Honour George Cunningham and his 50 Conferences on Medieval Ireland in the Cistercian Abbey of Mount St. Joseph, Roscrea, 
1987–2012, ed. by P. Harbison and V. Hall (Roscrea: Cistercian Press, 2012), pp. 146–57. 
xviii Macdonald, ‘The Visual Preconditions’, p. 19. 
xix MacGregor, ‘Antiquity Inventoried’, pp. 127–36. 
xx T. Greenwood, Museums and Art Galleries (London: Simpkin, Marshall and Co., 1888), pp. 222–23; J. R. Allen, ‘A 
Museum for Christian Archaeology for Great Britain’, Archaeological Review, 1 (1888), 191–96. 
xxi F. Herrmann, The English as Collectors: a Documentary Chrestomathy Selected, Introduced and Annotated by Frank Herrmann 
(London: Chatto & Windus, 1972), pp. 14–15.; C. Whitehead, Museums and the Construction of Disciplines. Art and 
Archaeology in Nineteenth-Century Britain (London: Duckworth, 2009), pp. 82–93. 
xxii A. Way, ‘Introduction. March 1844’, Archaeological Journal, 1 (1845), 2–3; D. Westerhall, ‘The Growth of 
Archaeological Societies’, in Study of the Past, ed. by Brand, pp. 28–31. 
xxiii See for example C. Evans, ‘" Delineating Objects": Nineteenth Century Antiquarian Culture and the Project of 
Archaeology’, in Visions on Antiquity: The Society of Antiquaries of London 1907–2007, ed. by S. Pearce (London: Society 
of Antiquaries of London, 2007), pp. 266–305. 



5756

xlvii Prior, ‘Buist, George (1804–1860)’; G. Buist, ‘On the Scythian Bowls and Bows of the Ancients, Compared with 
Those of India’, Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, 1 (1851–54), 237–39. 
xlviii Buist, Report; Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument’; Muniments of the University of St Andrews 
UY8528/1/21(a); Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/5, Binder of papers submitted to the St 
Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society (1814, 1839–29 June 1905); Fifeshire Journal, ‘Rhunic Antiquities’, 12 July 
1838, p. 3; 14 November 1839, p. 4; Fife Herald, 14 November 1839, p. 4. Buist, Memoir.  
xlix Buist, Memoir, p. ix. 
l Fifeshire Journal, 19 April 1838, p. 3; 10 May 1838, p. 1. 
li Rev George Scott, quoted in Buist, Memoir, p. 6. 
lii Crawford, The Beginning and the End, ch. 5.  
liii Nordbladh, ‘The Shape of History’, p. 243. 
liv Crawford, The Beginning and the End, ch. 6. 
lv  For his photosensitive paper, he went to Rudolph Ackerman’s shop on the Strand and purchased the ‘photogenic 
drawing box’ of material and Fox-Talbot’s instructions for producing ‘photogenic drawings’: ‘I have also taken a 
parcel of Ackermans photogenic paper purchased of Mr Fox Talbots instructions together with London lenses for a 
camera obscura – so as to try the effects of the tropical sun. I suppose I shall be the first to make the caves of 
Elephanta pourtray [sic] themselves — in which, if I succeed I shall send you specimens of the portraiture that you 
may compare them with Capt. Grindlay’s coloured drawings of which you have a copy in the university library’ 
(Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/5, 11 February 1840). 
lvi R. Taylor, Impressed by Light: British Photographs from Paper Negatives, 1840–1860 (New Haven, CT: Yale University 
Press, 2007), ch. 9. 
lvii R. D. E. Welander, ‘Recent Developments in Conservation and Presentation’, in The St  Andrews Sarcophagus, ed. 
by Foster, pp. 63–70. 
lviii See Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lix A. S. Naik and M. C. H. Stewart, ‘The Hellenization of Edinburgh: Cityscape, Architecture, and the Athenian Cast 
Collection’, Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 3 (2007), 366–89. 
lx Buist, Report, p. 2 
lxi See M. Goldberg and A. Blackwell, ‘The Different Histories of the Norrie’s Law Hoard’, in Making Histories, ed. by 
Hawkes, pp. 326–38, for details. 
lxii See, for example, J. M. Leighton, History of the County of Fife from the Earliest to the Present Time (Glasgow: Brookman 
and Co., 1840), II, fig. facing p. 177. 
lxiii See contributions to The St Andrews Sarcophagus, ed. by Foster. 
lxiv D. V. Clarke, A. Blackwell and M. Goldberg, Early Medieval Scotland. Individuals, Communities and Ideas (Edinburgh: 
National Museums Scotland, 2012), pp. 45, 95. 
lxv Cf. Nordbladh, ‘The Shape of History’, p. 243, and C. Evans, ‘Megalithic Follies: Soane’s "Druidic Remains" and 
the Display of Monuments’, Journal of Material Culture 3 (2000), 347–66 (pp. 354–55) on the ways in which 
illustrations in one visual media (2D and 3D) can have dependences and dependencies inherited from another, and 
the risks of ‘naïve acceptance’ of representations. 
lxvi D. Wilson, Prehistoric Annals of Scotland (1st edn; Edinburgh: Sutherland and Knox, 1851), p. 503; (2nd edn; 
London and Cambridge: MacMillan and Co., 1863), vol. II, pl. xiv. 
lxvii C. L. Mowbray, ‘Eastern Influence on Carvings at St Andrews and Nigg, Scotland’, Antiquity 10 (1936): pls. I–IV. 
lxviii See for example McCormick, ‘Crosses in Circulation’, ch. 3 (esp. pp. 90–94), which scholars and museums were 
exchanging casts from as early as the 1840s. 
lxix Foster, ‘Circulating Agency’. 
lxx Ó Floinn ‘Reproducing the Past’, pp. 148, 152–54; Kelly, ‘"Specimens of Modern Antique"’. 
lxxi A. Way, Catalogue of the Antiquities, Works of Art and Historical Scottish Relics, Exhibited in the Museum of the 
Archaeological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland during their Annual Meeting, held in Edinburgh, July 1856 (Edinburgh and 
London: Thomas Constable and Co., 1859), p. 153 fn. 
lxxii D. Bilbey and R. Cribb, ‘Plaster Models, Plaster Casts, Electrotypes and Fictile Ivories’, in The Making of Sculpture. 
The Materials and Techniques of European Sculpture, ed. by M. Trusted (London: V&A, 2007). pp. 152–71; Mapping the 
Practice and Profession of Sculpture in Britain and Ireland 1851–1951 <www.sculpture.gla.ac.uk> [accessed 3 April 2012]; 
P. Malone, ‘How the Smiths made a living’ in R. Frederiksen and E. Marchand, Plaster Casts, pp. 163–77. 
lxxiii Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lxxiv Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lxxv Cf. I. Hodder, Entangled. An Archaeology of the Relationships between Humans and Things (Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, 
2012). 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

List of New Members 2016 

Annual Members 

Life Members 

 
Mr & Mrs Warner 

Mr & Mrs J H Thomson 
Mrs A B Arthur 
Mrs M Sinclair 
Mr J D Sharp 

Mrs C Tynte-Irvine 

Mr J W Allen 
Miss G L C Falconer 
Mrs A Fisher 
Miss P G Jenkins 

Mrs A R E Lightwood 
Mrs E A Mackenzie 
Mr H J Pirie 
Mrs D C Swyszcz 

Deceased Members 



5756

xlvii Prior, ‘Buist, George (1804–1860)’; G. Buist, ‘On the Scythian Bowls and Bows of the Ancients, Compared with 
Those of India’, Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, 1 (1851–54), 237–39. 
xlviii Buist, Report; Buist, ‘On the Ancient Sculptured Monument’; Muniments of the University of St Andrews 
UY8528/1/21(a); Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/5, Binder of papers submitted to the St 
Andrews Literary and Philosophical Society (1814, 1839–29 June 1905); Fifeshire Journal, ‘Rhunic Antiquities’, 12 July 
1838, p. 3; 14 November 1839, p. 4; Fife Herald, 14 November 1839, p. 4. Buist, Memoir.  
xlix Buist, Memoir, p. ix. 
l Fifeshire Journal, 19 April 1838, p. 3; 10 May 1838, p. 1. 
li Rev George Scott, quoted in Buist, Memoir, p. 6. 
lii Crawford, The Beginning and the End, ch. 5.  
liii Nordbladh, ‘The Shape of History’, p. 243. 
liv Crawford, The Beginning and the End, ch. 6. 
lv  For his photosensitive paper, he went to Rudolph Ackerman’s shop on the Strand and purchased the ‘photogenic 
drawing box’ of material and Fox-Talbot’s instructions for producing ‘photogenic drawings’: ‘I have also taken a 
parcel of Ackermans photogenic paper purchased of Mr Fox Talbots instructions together with London lenses for a 
camera obscura – so as to try the effects of the tropical sun. I suppose I shall be the first to make the caves of 
Elephanta pourtray [sic] themselves — in which, if I succeed I shall send you specimens of the portraiture that you 
may compare them with Capt. Grindlay’s coloured drawings of which you have a copy in the university library’ 
(Muniments of the University of St Andrews UY8528/5, 11 February 1840). 
lvi R. Taylor, Impressed by Light: British Photographs from Paper Negatives, 1840–1860 (New Haven, CT: Yale University 
Press, 2007), ch. 9. 
lvii R. D. E. Welander, ‘Recent Developments in Conservation and Presentation’, in The St  Andrews Sarcophagus, ed. 
by Foster, pp. 63–70. 
lviii See Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lix A. S. Naik and M. C. H. Stewart, ‘The Hellenization of Edinburgh: Cityscape, Architecture, and the Athenian Cast 
Collection’, Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 3 (2007), 366–89. 
lx Buist, Report, p. 2 
lxi See M. Goldberg and A. Blackwell, ‘The Different Histories of the Norrie’s Law Hoard’, in Making Histories, ed. by 
Hawkes, pp. 326–38, for details. 
lxii See, for example, J. M. Leighton, History of the County of Fife from the Earliest to the Present Time (Glasgow: Brookman 
and Co., 1840), II, fig. facing p. 177. 
lxiii See contributions to The St Andrews Sarcophagus, ed. by Foster. 
lxiv D. V. Clarke, A. Blackwell and M. Goldberg, Early Medieval Scotland. Individuals, Communities and Ideas (Edinburgh: 
National Museums Scotland, 2012), pp. 45, 95. 
lxv Cf. Nordbladh, ‘The Shape of History’, p. 243, and C. Evans, ‘Megalithic Follies: Soane’s "Druidic Remains" and 
the Display of Monuments’, Journal of Material Culture 3 (2000), 347–66 (pp. 354–55) on the ways in which 
illustrations in one visual media (2D and 3D) can have dependences and dependencies inherited from another, and 
the risks of ‘naïve acceptance’ of representations. 
lxvi D. Wilson, Prehistoric Annals of Scotland (1st edn; Edinburgh: Sutherland and Knox, 1851), p. 503; (2nd edn; 
London and Cambridge: MacMillan and Co., 1863), vol. II, pl. xiv. 
lxvii C. L. Mowbray, ‘Eastern Influence on Carvings at St Andrews and Nigg, Scotland’, Antiquity 10 (1936): pls. I–IV. 
lxviii See for example McCormick, ‘Crosses in Circulation’, ch. 3 (esp. pp. 90–94), which scholars and museums were 
exchanging casts from as early as the 1840s. 
lxix Foster, ‘Circulating Agency’. 
lxx Ó Floinn ‘Reproducing the Past’, pp. 148, 152–54; Kelly, ‘"Specimens of Modern Antique"’. 
lxxi A. Way, Catalogue of the Antiquities, Works of Art and Historical Scottish Relics, Exhibited in the Museum of the 
Archaeological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland during their Annual Meeting, held in Edinburgh, July 1856 (Edinburgh and 
London: Thomas Constable and Co., 1859), p. 153 fn. 
lxxii D. Bilbey and R. Cribb, ‘Plaster Models, Plaster Casts, Electrotypes and Fictile Ivories’, in The Making of Sculpture. 
The Materials and Techniques of European Sculpture, ed. by M. Trusted (London: V&A, 2007). pp. 152–71; Mapping the 
Practice and Profession of Sculpture in Britain and Ireland 1851–1951 <www.sculpture.gla.ac.uk> [accessed 3 April 2012]; 
P. Malone, ‘How the Smiths made a living’ in R. Frederiksen and E. Marchand, Plaster Casts, pp. 163–77. 
lxxiii Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lxxiv Foster, ‘Expiscation!’. 
lxxv Cf. I. Hodder, Entangled. An Archaeology of the Relationships between Humans and Things (Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, 
2012). 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

List of New Members 2016 

Annual Members 

Life Members 

 
Mr & Mrs Warner 

Mr & Mrs J H Thomson 
Mrs A B Arthur 
Mrs M Sinclair 
Mr J D Sharp 

Mrs C Tynte-Irvine 

Mr J W Allen 
Miss G L C Falconer 
Mrs A Fisher 
Miss P G Jenkins 

Mrs A R E Lightwood 
Mrs E A Mackenzie 
Mr H J Pirie 
Mrs D C Swyszcz 

Deceased Members 



58



58



Printed by West Port Print & Design Ltd., St Andrews · Tel: (01334) 477135

THE ST ANDREWS
PRESERVATION TRUST

Since its foundation in 1937, the object
of The St Andrews Preservation Trust
has been to secure the preservation of
the amenities and historic character

of St Andrews and its neighbourhood.

Charity Registered in Scotland No. SC011782


